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CHAIRMAN’S 
LETTER

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

Dear Shareholder,

Over the last financial year, we set about 
resizing and refocusing towards a more 
profitable and sustainable business. As 
part of that process, we entered into a 
binding agreement, subject to shareholder 
approval to acquire 100% of Broadland 
Group. 

The acquisition Broadland’s of will give 
us the ability to quickly and profitably 
achieve scale with an experienced 
leadership team and strong sales force. 
As a combined group, we will be able 
to gain some cost savings from supplier 
consolidation and some early synergies 
can be achieved from merging the 
customer management and sales teams. 
It’s expected that with the increased 
bandwidth of management, technical 
support, sales force and support team that 
we will be able to offer a wider selection 
of services and products to both existing 
and new clients.

In February this year, we simplified the 
United Networks Global SIM model 
under one Brand and successfully launch 
the eSIM distribution platform. This has 
revitalised the United Global SIM business 
into a truly international digital product 
with sales coming from direct consumers 
and partners in over 35 countries. 

The new eSIM allows customers to 
quickly and easily activate and reuse their 
SIM anywhere around the world within 
minutes of purchase. This has resulted 
in lower distribution costs, increased 
customer retention and satisfaction and 
an overall increase in APRU (revenue per 
sim) to over $95 per sim. With an increase 

in the number of new phones supporting 
eSIM, we expect to continue to see growth 
in this revenue line.

Over the course of the year, we also 
continued to sign up new partners to 
the eSIM platform which we expect to 
come online towards the end of 2019 and 
into 2020. This combined with the lower 
costs and increased revenues will mean 
that your Board expects the global SIM 
business to be a profitable contributor to 
the overall business in the coming year.

Our Cash position as of 30th June was 
$0.526m and if the acquisition is approved 
by shareholders at the AGM on 21st 
October, we expect to see the cash 
position to improve to over $1.9million 
post the transaction.

I would like to thank our patient 
shareholders who have supported us 
over the last year as we underwent 
changes and look forward to being able 
to bring the company back to growth 
and profitability in 2020. Thanks also to 
all team members of United Networks 
Limited for their hard work during the 
period. I look forward to updating you 
again as United continues to grow.

Anthony Ghattas 

Non-Executive Chairman
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ABOUT UNITED

ABOUT UNITED NETWORKS eSIM

The new eSIM was launched in February 2019 and since its launch it has encouraging take up rates 

from existing and new subscribers. 

The United Global eSIM is a game changer that connects users instantly to more than 500 networks 

in over 190 countries through a completely digital process. When coupled with the United networks 

Travel App it is the ultimate travel connectivity solution.

The move to eSIM has enabled United to reduce the distribution costs and as the eSIM supported 

devices grow this saving will continue to improve the profitability of the business. eSIM uptake has 

also resulted in the global ARPU increasing to $95 per subscriber in FY19, the comparable for FY18 

was $84 per subscriber (13.1% increase).

The eSIM is convenient, and easy to use and 

activate. You only need to set it up once and 

you never have to worry about changing sims 

or expensive roaming again its ready to go at 

all times on your phone.

• No Physical limitations 

• No Geographical boundaries

• Instantly activated

• Easy One-time setup at your fingertips 

• Ready to use globally at any time

• Support Data, Calling and SMS

• Significant interest from partners in the 

United Virtual eSIM solution

To set up the Global eSIM all a customer has to 

do is scan a QR code which initiates the devices 

native activation process. Once activated the 

customer has access to global connectivity and 

our full range of solutions, all the customer 

has to do is add credit. 

The Global eSIM expands the reach of the 

United Networks Trust Platform for our 

distribution partners with the Global eSIM that 

can be activated anywhere anytime. 
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PERFORMANCE 
SUMMARY

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

United Networks Limited (UNL) focus for the 

year ending 30 June 2019 was to restructure 

the business to a sustainable level, whilst 

maintaining the new product development 

with direct and partner lead sales growth. UNL 

successfully increased revenues by launching 

new partners and products in FY19 whilst at 

the same time reducing overheads to improve 

gross margins. 

Key Achievements in FY2019

• Increase in direct sales 
• Increase in gross margin
• Reduction in overheads
• Reduction in net cash outflows
• Launch of New Products and strategic 

partnerships

Financial Summary

• Group Revenue of $3.0 million, up 14.7% 

on prior year $2.6m
 - Direct Sales and Partner Sales of 

$2.34m
 - Revenue from direct UNL branded 

online products grew by 580%
 - The FY19 adjusted normalised total 

sales excluding Covermore increased 

by 18%

• Gross Profit as a percentage of sales 

before grants was 41% of sales an increase 

of 27% on FY18 primarily as result of 

improved SIM/eSIM bundling of online 

products coupled with the launch of eSIM 

has reduced the distribution cost as it is a 

virtual product

• Restructuring in FY19 resulted in reduced 

overhead to $1.56m down 34.6% (FY18 

$2.39)

• EBITDA loss of $0.07 a 92% reduction 

(FY18 $1.8m) an improvement of $1.73m

• Loss after tax of $1.13m a 99% reduction 

(FY18 $19.27m)

• Net cash outflows $0.83m reduced by 

$2.03m (FY18 Net Cash Outflows $2.86m)

NEW PARTNERS, PRODUCTS AND 

DISTRIBUTION FY19

• United launched RACV offers to over 2 

million members at the end of June 2019 

with orders having grown in both July and 

August 2019

• United signed an agreement with Hepstar 

in April 2019 to integrate United suite of 

products in the OTA booking paths of its 

customers base we anticipate a launch in 

Q1 FY20

• United eSIM marketing initiatives have 

resulted in activations from customers in 

over 30 countries

• United commercially launched the eSIM 

in Q3 it now constitutes 23% of SIM sales 

after only 4 months with activation grown 

month on month

• United launched its first UK partner 

Collinson in November 2018 under the 

Columbus brand

• Global Insurer AIG Singapore went live in 

August 2018 to provide WiFi/SOS to Travel 

Guard Customers

• United direct online sales grow 580% in 

FY19 and continue to grow
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RISKS

RISKS

RISK MANAGEMENT

The company operates within a highly 

competitive, technology based industry 

and is exposed to a range of risks that have 

the potential to impact on the financial, 

operational and strategic performance of the 

business. In executing the company’s strategy, 

risk management is an integral factor in 

considering the best way to create shareholder 

value.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board is responsible for establishing the 

level of risk which it expects the management 

of the company to operate within.

This responsibility extends to ensuring an 

appropriate risk management framework is in 

place.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND AUDIT 

COMMITTEE

The Board has established a Risk Management 

and Audit Committee (RMA Committee) to 

assist the Board to discharge its corporate 

governance duties in relation to implementing 

and maintaining appropriate policies and 

procedures relating to risk management, 

financial reporting, external and internal 

control and auditing.

The RMA Committee is chaired by Charbel 

Nader (as independent director) and its 

other members are Anthony Ghattas (non-

executive Chairman) and Nicholas Ghattas (the 

Managing Director). Whilst the majority of 

this committee does not currently consist of 

independent directors, the Board believes that 

the breadth and depth of knowledge, skills and 

experience of the committee members, and 

the provisions of the charter of this committee 

which governs them, effectively ensure 

the transparency, focus and independent 

judgement needed to oversee the audit, 

reporting and risk management functions.

The Risk Management and Audit Committee 

Charter details the role of this committee 

which is to:

• Create a structure of review and 

authorisation designed to ensure the 

integrity of the company’s financial 

reporting;

• Review and monitor the independence and 

effectiveness of the external auditors and 

internal controls if any; and

• Review the effectiveness of the company’s 

compliance and risk management 

functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The United Risk Management Framework 

enables the company to establish clear 

processes and structures to identify, assess 

and monitor various risks. The key elements 

of the framework include:

• The Board and CEO who provide ultimate 

oversight and accountability for risk 

management and defining the risk 

parameters. The board has identified the 

material business risks and agreed to the 

strategy in managing each risk.

• The Risk Management and Audit 

Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 

corporate governance and oversight.

• Management, who work within the agreed 

risk parameters.

KEY RISKS

United continues to execute on it’s business 

strategy to grow the business and deliver 

value to shareholders. There are a number 

of risks associated with an investment in 

the Company, which may affect its financial 

performance, financial position, cash flows, 

distribution, growth prospects and share price.

Some of the key areas of risk identified for 

United are:

• Changes in Industry, Market and Customer 

Demand

• Supplier and Vendor Relationships

• Loss of Key Enterprise Partners

• Hacker Attacks, Data Security and Integrity

• Growth Prospects

• Reputation

• Regulatory

• New revenue and market

• Reliance on key personnel

• Funding to develop the products.

Risk Mitigation Strategy

Industry, Market and Customer Demand Change

Due to the nature of the technology industry 
and its ever-changing environment, there may be 
external environmental changes which affect the 
business’ core offering. These can be changes in 
industry standards, competitor offerings, changes 
to popular technology/software and a shift in 
customer demands.

United identifies the threats posed to its business 
through external risks such as changes in the 
industry, market and customer demand.

Management are constantly engaged with partners 
to identify and understand change intrends.

United have developed a flexible and scalable 
solution which facilitates changes to current and 
future products to accommodate change in trends.

Supplier and Vendor Relationship

United relies on various key supplier relationships 
in certain parts of its business. The loss or 
impairment of any of these relationships could 
impact United’s business.

United values its key relationships with suppliers 
and one of Management’s core objectives is to 
maintain a positive and productive relationship 
with these Key Enterprise Partners.

The Trust platform allows flexibility as to reduce 
our reliance on any single supplier or vendor and 
we are constantly evaluating alternatives as a 
backup, if required.

Loss of Key Enterprise Partners

A substantial portion of United’s revenues is 
generated from its Key Enterprise Partners. The 
loss of any Key Enterprise Partner or the loss of 
business from Key Enterprise Partners would 
adversely impact United’s business and financial 
results.

United continues to maintain a strong relationship 
with its Key Enterprise partners. In FY18, one of 
Uniteds Key partner contracts ceased. 

The diversification of the international roaming 
business and Wi-Fi business coupled with the 
growth in new partners, and introduction to new 
insuretech solutions allows United to mitigate 
the impact of losing any single partner or Key 
Enterprise Partners.

Hacker Attacks, Data Security and Integrity

United relies on the availability of its websites, 
hosting servers and the websites and systems of 
various third-party providers to provide services to 
clients and to attract new clients. Such websites, 
servers and systems could be subject to data theft, 
disruption or denial of service (DoS) attacks and 
unauthorised access from hackers.

United takes its customers’ privacy and data 
security very seriously and continuously works to 
develop and enhance security systems.

To mitigate these risks, United closely follows 
best practices and uses industry leading intrusion 
detection tools, detailed monitoring, enterprise 
firewalls and data centres.

As a part of the ongoing requirements, United 
continues to perform penetration and vulnerability 
testing across all sites and solutions combined with 
ongoing enhancements to its security, monitoring 
and payment gateways.

Growth Prospects and Acquisitions

United’s growth prospects are dependent upon a 
number of factors, including customer take-up and 
successful execution of expansion plans. If United 
fails to execute any expansion plans, its financial 
performance is likely to be negatively affected.

As part of its expansion strategy, the Company 
continues to pursue acquisitions of, or significant 
investments in, complementary companies, 
services, technologies and/or products to create 
new revenue streams.

Any such future transactions are accompanied 
by the risks commonly encountered in making 
acquisitions of companies, products and 
technologies.

Continued on next page
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Risk Mitigation Strategy

Reputation

The success of United’s business depends on the 
maintenance of good client relationships and its 
reputation for providing high quality products and 
services. United’s reputation could be significantly 
damage if:

• United does not meet customer expectations;

• it is involved in litigation claims relating to its 
product performance or customer service; or

• it is subject to negative media coverage.

United currently has strategies in place to measure 
customer satisfaction, which identifies and 
highlights the ways in which we can improve.

As part of this strategy, the company runs a 
continual improvement program to ensure the 
performance of the service exceeds our clients’ 
expectations.

The enhancement of the duty of care platform 
will increase the reputation of United as a trusted 
partner, providing relevant real-time engagement 
solutions for end customers.

United’s Regulatory Position

At the date of this report, the telecommunications 
services provided by United do not require a 
special license or permit in the jurisdictions they 
are offered.

However, changes to the regulatory regime, 
legislation, or government policies in any such 
jurisdiction, or in the nature of the services or 
operations of United may require the acquisition 
of a license or permit, or may impose other 
obligations upon United.

A failure or delay in complying with such changes 
or the time and costs required to comply could 
have an adverse impact on United.

United continually reviews the global regulatory 
environment and ensures that its trading terms 
and privacy policy are routinely updated to meet 
changing regulatory requirements.

New Revenue and Market

Some of United’s new business opportunities 
should be viewed as speculative as they may be 
based on new business models, or involve non-
traditional telecommunications companies and new 
revenue potential that cannot be guaranteed.

There is an inherent risk associated with setting up 
new operations or partnering with new companies 
which, if unsuccessful, costly to implement, or 
costly to maintain can adversely affect United’s 
operations, revenue and profits.

United’s strategy is to work with its global partners 
to collaboratively enter new markets in which they 
operate. With this strategy United is able to ensure 
distribution from day one with a local affiliation.

Reliance on Key Personnel

United relies on the experience and knowledge of 
its management team. United is also dependent 
on its ability to recruit and retain suitably qualified 
personnel.

The loss of key personnel which United is unable 
to replace with suitable staff or within reasonable 
time, could have a materially adverse effect on 
United’s business and its operations.

In the period United has strengthened its 
management team with key appointments in Chief 
Operating Officer and business development.
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SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The shareholder information set out below 

was applicable as at 24 September 2019.

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITABLE SECURITIES

Analysis of number of equitable security 

holders by size of holding:

UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES

SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS

Substantial holders in the company are set out 

below:

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares 

are set out below:

ORDINARY SHARES

On a show of hands every member present at 

a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one 

vote and upon a poll each share shall have one 

vote.

There are no other classes of equity securities.

Number of Shares Number of 
holders of 

ordinary 
shares

1 to 1,000 13

1,001 to 5,000 20

5,001 to 10,000 84

10,001 to 100,000 170

100,001 and over 75

Total 362

Holding less than a marketable parcel 152

Number of Shares Number 
on issue

Number of 
holders

Options over ordinary 
shares issued

16,000,000 5

Ordinary Shares

Shareholder Number
held

% of total
shares
issued

Temont Pty Ltd 38,208,124 30.37

Autopilot Consulting 
Pty Ltd

38,208,124 30.37
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Ordinary Shares

Name
Number 

Held

% of total shares

issued

Autopilot Consulting Pty Ltd 38,208,124 30.37 

Temont Pty Ltd 38,208,124 30.37 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 4,253,881 3.38

Bull Equities Pty Ltd 4,236,625 3.37

Australian Executor Trustees Limited < No. 1 Account > 3,147,019 2.50

Mr Humberto Vieira 1,666,667 1.32

Richard Albarran < Albarran Family No 2 A/C > 1,333,334 1.06

Rolay Pty Ltd 1,333,334 1.06

Tuwele Pty Limited < Murphy Family A/C > 1,250,000 0.99

Sharley Investments Pty Ltd < Sharley Super Fund A/C > 1,157,606 0.92

Mr Justin O’Neil Malouf 1,000,000 0.79

Lunn Family Super Pty Ltd < Lunn Family Super A/C > 1,000,000 0.79

Mr Gareth Graeme MacDougall 1,000,000 0.79

Mr Ross Patrick Martin 1,000,000 0.79

Tuwele Pty Limited < Rosella Superannuation A/C > 784,000 0.62

Pershing Australia Nominees Pty Ltd < Accum A/C > 762,610 0.61

Slapdash Pty Limited 700,000 0.56

Gelloyce Pty Limited < Gelloyce Super Fund A/C > 683,513 0.54

Tempo (Aust) Pty Ltd 666,667 0.53

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 648,707 0.52

Total 103,040,211 81.88

EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

TWENTY LARGEST QUOTED EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

24 September 2019

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report, together 

with the financial statements, on the 

consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 

the ‘consolidated entity’) consisting of United 

Networks Limited (referred to hereafter as the 

‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) and the entities 

it controlled at the end of, or during, the year 

ended 30 June 2019.

DIRECTORS

The following persons were directors of 

United Networks Limited during the whole of 

the financial year and up to the date of this 

report, unless otherwise stated:

• Anthony Ghattas

• Nicholas Ghattas 

• Charbel Nader

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The United Networks Limited group is an 

innovative enterprise solutions provider 

which has developed a platform (Trust 

platform) based on global connectivity and 

customer engagement. The group provides 

global engagement and value-add Insuretech 

solutions to the insurance and travel industry 

to allow them to increase end-customer 

engagement. In addition the group continues 

to offer local telecommunications services to 

SMB across Australia.

DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends paid, recommended 

or declared during the current or previous 

financial year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The loss for the consolidated entity after 

providing for income tax amounted to 

$1,132,092 (30 June 2018: $19,268,609).

United Networks Limited (UNL) focus for the 

year ending 30 June 2019 was to restructure 

the business to a sustainable level, whilst 

maintaining the new product development 

with direct and partner lead sales growth. UNL 

successfully increased revenues by launching 

new partners and products in FY19 whilst at 

the same time reducing overheads to improve 

gross margins. 

Key Achievements in FY2019

• Increase in direct sales 

• Increase in gross margin

• Reduction in overheads

• Reduction in net cash outflows

• Launch of New Products and strategic 

partnerships

Financial Summary

• Group Revenue of $3.0 million, up 14.7% 

on prior year $2.6m

 - Direct Sales and Partner Sales of 

$2.34m

 - Revenue from direct UNL branded 

online products grew by 580%

 - The FY19 adjusted normalised total 

sales excluding Covermore increased 

by 18%

• Gross Profit as a percentage of sales 

before grants was 41% of sales an increase 

of 27% on FY18 primarily as result of 

improved SIM/eSIM bundling of online 

products coupled with the launch of eSIM 

has reduced the distribution cost as it is a 

virtual product

• Restructuring in FY19 resulted in reduced 

overhead to $1.56m down 34.6% (FY18 

$2.39)

• EBITDA loss of $0.07 a 92% reduction 

(FY18 $1.8m) an improvement of $1.73m

• Loss after tax of $1.13m a 99% reduction 

(FY18 $19.27m)

• Net cash outflows $0.83m reduced by 

$2.03m (FY18 Net Cash Outflows $2.86m)
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2019
Million

2018
Million

Group Revenue

Sales - Direct & Partner Up 18% 2.34 1.98

Sales - Covermore No Sales FY19 - 0.63

Grants FY18 Grant was accrued in FY17 0.66 -

Total 3.00 2.61

Gross profit Up 92% 1.62 0.84

Gross profit before grants Up 13% 0.96 0.84

2019 $ 2018 $

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited):

Loss before income tax expense (1,132,092) (18,849,667)

Finance costs 24,450 51,769

Interest revenue (8,338)  (42,376)

Depreciation expense 219,090 204,730

Amortisation expense 824,902 770,040

EBITDA (71,988) (17,865,504)

Goodwill impairment - 16,016,577

Adjusted EBITDA (71,988) (1,848,927)

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are non-IFRS earnings measures which do not have any standardised 

meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to EBITDA presented by other 

companies. These measures, which are unaudited, are important to management as an additional 

way to evaluate the company’s performance.

NEW PARTNERS, PRODUCTS AND DISTRIBUTION FY19

• United launched RACV offers to over 2 million members at the end of June 2019 with orders 

having grown in both July and August 2019

• United signed an agreement with Hepstar in April 2019 to integrate United suite of products in 

the OTA booking paths of its customers base we anticipate a launch in Q1 FY20

• United eSIM marketing initiatives have resulted in activations from customers in over 30 

countries

• United commercially launched the eSIM in Q3 it now constitutes 23% of SIM sales after only 4 

months with activation grown month on month

• United launched its first UK partner Collinson in November 2018 under the Columbus brand

• United became an Authorised Representative of Chubb insurance Australia, to allow for the sale 

of insurance product

• Global Insurer AIG Singapore went live in August 2018 to provide WiFi/SOS to Travel Guard 

Customers

• New Insuretech Products

 - Flight Delay Insurance launched in conjunction with Swiss Re and Chubb embedded in the 

Chubb Connect App

KEY INDICATORS

• United average revenue per active SIM 

user has increased to $95 as of August 

2019 a result of eSIM launch up 17% from 

December 2018

• 98% of United SIM sales are now under our 

direct brand with the database surpassing 

500,000 in FY19

• United eSIM has grown to 22% of SIM sales 

since its launch in February 2019

• Significant interest from partners in the 

United Virtual eSIM solution

• United direct online sales grow 580% in 

FY19 and continue to grow

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF 

AFFAIRS

There were no significant changes in the state 

of affairs of the consolidated entity during the 

financial year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF 

THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Acquisition of Broadland Group

On 13 September 2019, United Networks 

Limited (UNL) announced it had entered into 

a binding agreement to acquire 100% of 

the Broadland Group (BLG) which comprises 

Broadland Solutions Pty Ltd and Broadland 

Victoria Pty Ltd and its related entities for a 

consideration of $9.5 million. The transaction 

is subject to shareholder approval at the AGM 

on 21 October 2019. 

The transaction will be funded by the issue of 

266,554,433 UNL shares at a price of $0.03564 

per share to BLG shareholders. No further 

capital raising will be required to complete this 

transaction.  

The Telecommunication Service Provider 

business division of UNL and BLG are very 

similar serving small to medium business 

a range of telecommunications and data 

services, both direct billing under their 

respective brands. The transaction is expected 

to deliver direct synergies from cost savings 

and supplier negotiation for cost of services.

From a legal and taxation perspective UNL 

will be considered the acquiring entity. 

However, the acquisition has the features 

of a reverse acquisition as described in 

the Australian Accounting Standard AASB 

3 ‘Business combinations’ because the 

acquisition will result in BLG shareholders 

holding a controlling interest in UNL after the 

transaction notwithstanding UNL being the 

legal parent of the new group. Accordingly, 

the consolidated financial statements of UNL 

for the half year ending 31 December 2019 will 

be prepared as a continuation of the business 

and operations of BLG. As the deemed 

acquirer BLG will account for the acquisition of 

UNL from the date the transaction is approved 

by the shareholders of UNL.

If the transaction had been completed on 30 

June 2019, the following would have been the 

goodwill at that date:

Pro-forma 30 June 2019
$

Net assets of UNL acquired on reverse 
acquisition

1,777,448

Assessed fair value of assets acquired:

125,824,949, being 100% of the UNL 
shares on issue at $0.013 per share

(1,635,724)

Gain on bargain purchase 141,724

No other matter or circumstance has arisen 

since 30 June 2019 that has significantly 

affected, or may significantly affect the 

consolidated entity’s operations, the results of 

those operations, or the consolidated entity’s 

state of affairs in future financial years.
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LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Information on likely developments in the 

operations of the consolidated entity and 

the expected results of operations have not 

been included in this report because the 

directors believe it would be likely to result in 

unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated 

entity.

GOING CONCERN

For the year ended 30 June 2019 the 

consolidated entity incurred a loss after 

income tax of $1,132,092 (2018: $19,268,609) 

and net cash outflows from operating 

activities of $97,390 (2018: $1,277,975). The 

net operating loss for the financial year ended 

30 June 2018, excluding the impairment of 

goodwill ($16,016,577) and the write back of 

the net deferred tax asset ($418,942), was 

$2,833,090. The recurring historical operating 

losses and net cash outflows from operating 

activities give rise to a material uncertainty 

that may cast significant doubt about the 

ability of the consolidated entity to continue 

as a going concern.

The ability of the consolidated entity to 

maintain continuity of normal business 

activities and to pay its debts as and when 

they fall due is dependent on the consolidated 

entity having sufficient working capital to fund 

its activities.

On 13 September 2019, United Networks 

Limited (UNL) announced it had entered into 

a binding agreement to acquire 100% of 

the Broadland Group (BLG) which comprises 

Broadland Solutions Pty Ltd and Broadland 

Victoria Pty Ltd and its related entities for 

a consideration of $9.5 million (refer note 

29). The transaction is subject to shareholder 

approval at the AGM on 21 October 2019. 

The acquisition is expected to increase both 

revenue and the profitability of UNL and 

post-transaction cash on hand is expected to 

increase to over $2 million. The acquisition, 

should it be approved, is expected to 

completely mitigate the material uncertainty 

related to the ability of the consolidated 

entity to continue as a going concern. The UNL 

Directors, who collectively hold 60.72% of the 

voting rights in UNL, unanimously recommend 

the transaction to shareholders and have 

stated that they intend to vote, or cause to 

be voted, all UNL shares held or controlled by 

them, or on their behalf, in favour of all the 

resolutions associated with this transaction at 

the forthcoming AGM. The resolutions must be 

approved by at least 50% of the total number 

of votes cast at the AGM. The UNL Directors 

consider that it is highly unlikely that the 

transaction will not be completed. 

However, in the unlikely event the transaction 

is not completed, the UNL Directors have 

prepared a consolidated income and 

expenditure budget and cash flow budget for 

the 2020 financial year, based on reasonable 

assumptions. The Directors are budgeting for a 

modest surplus for the 30 June 2020 financial 

year and for a positive working capital balance 

throughout the period.

Based on the above, the Directors are of the 

opinion that at the date of signature of the 

financial report there are reasonable and 

supportable grounds to believe that the 

consolidated entity will be able to meet its 

liabilities from its assets in the ordinary course 

of business, for a period of not less than 12 

months from the date of signature of the audit 

report on this financial report to the date of 

signature of the audit report on the financial 

report for the year ending 30 June 2020, and 

has accordingly prepared the financial report 

on a going concern basis. Refer to Note 1 to 

the consolidated financial statements for 

further details on the budgets.

Should the consolidated entity be unable to 

continue as a going concern it may be required 

to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities 

other than in the normal course of business 

at amounts different to those stated in the 

financial statements. The financial statements 

do not include any adjustments relating to 

the recoverability and classification of asset 

carrying amounts or the amount of liabilities 

that might result should the consolidated 

entity be unable to continue as a going 

concern and meet its debts as and when they 

fall due.

The company’s auditor has, without qualifying 

their audit opinion, included an ‘emphasis 

of matter’ paragraph in their audit report 

which draws attention to the aforementioned 

uncertainty regarding going concern.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The consolidated entity is not subject to any 

significant environmental regulation under 

Australian Commonwealth or State law.
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INFORMATION ON THE DIRECTORS

ANTHONY GHATTAS 
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Qualifications: None

Experience and expertise:

Anthony Ghattas is the former CEO of ASX listed, 
digital and mobile content development company 
HWW Limited. Anthony is the Founder and 
Managing Director of United Lifestyle Group, he has 
extensive experiences in direct to customer

marketing in Australia and overseas which retails 
consumer direct wines under multiple brands in 
Australia and New Zealand. Over the last 14 years, 
Anthony has seen to the growth of United Lifestyle 
Group across multiple continents.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Chairman

Interests in shares: 38,238,124

Interests in options: 5,250,000

NICHOLAS GHATTAS
DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Qualifications:

BCom (University of New South Wales)

Experience and expertise:

Nicholas Ghattas has more than 20 years of 
experience in telecommunications. He has 
experience in sourcing, developing, building and 
managing mobile solutions businesses, Nicholas 
has delivered telecommunications solutions to 
Enterprise clients. His experience includes roles 
such as Corporate Financial Accountant at Coopers 
& Lybrand (PwC) and Director of a mobile retail 
outlet.

Over the last 6 years, Nicholas has built United 
Networks Limited into a successful domestic 
telecommunications business and has extended 
the business into the international mobile roaming 
market through a global roaming solution, available 
in Australia, Canada, Malaysia and New Zealand.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Chief Executive Officer  

Interests in shares: 38,208,124

Interests in options: 5,250,000

CHARBEL NADER
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Qualifications:

BCom (University of Melbourne), Master of Applied 
Finance (University of Melbourne)

Experience and expertise:

Charbel Nader is an investment banker with 
extensive experience in corporate finance and 
strategic advisory roles, including experience in 
mergers and acquisitions. Charbel was the Founding 
Chairman of Metro Media Publishing Pty Ltd. 
Charbel is a Director of Madman Entertainment 
Pty Ltd and Chairman of New Talisman Gold Mines 
Limited.

Other current directorships:

Chairman - New Talisman Gold Mines Limited (since 
24 August 2016)

Former directorships (last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: 90,000

Interests in options: 3,500,000

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are 
current directorships for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, 
unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted above 
are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed 
entities only and excludes directorships of all other 
types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

MICHAEL POTTS

COMPANY SECRETARY

Michael Potts is the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and 
Company Secretary of United Networks Limited. 
Michael has more than 30 years of experience in 
major firms including Deloitte, Nexia Australia, 
MasterPack Systems and JUA Underwriting Agency. 
Michael’s expertise has seen him in roles and 
responsibilities ranging from consultancy to CFO. 
Michael holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics 
from Macquarie University and is a member of the 
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of meetings of the company’s 

Board of Directors (‘the Board’) held during 

the year ended 30 June 2019, and the number 

of meetings attended by each director were:

Full Board

Held: represents the number of meetings held 
during the time the director held office.

An Audit Committee has been formed but 
did not meet during the year to 30 June 
2019. There are no other separate Board 
committees.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

The remuneration report details the key 
management personnel remuneration 
arrangements for the consolidated entity, 
in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

Key management personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, 
including all directors.

The remuneration report is set out under 
the following main headings:

• Principles used to determine the nature 
and amount of remuneration

• Details of remuneration

• Service agreements

• Share-based compensation

• Additional information

• Additional disclosures relating to key 
management personnel

Name Attended Held

Anthony Ghattas 8 8

Charbel Nader 8 8

Nicholas Ghattas 8 8

PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE 
NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION

The objective of the consolidated entity’s 
executive reward framework is to ensure 
reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered. The 
framework aligns executive reward with 
the achievement of strategic objectives and 
the creation of value for shareholders, and 
it is considered to conform to the market 
best practice for the delivery of reward. The 
Board of Directors (‘the Board’) ensures that 
executive reward satisfies the following key 
criteria for good reward governance practices:

• competitiveness and reasonableness
• acceptability to shareholders
• performance linkage / alignment of 

executive compensation
• transparency

The Board is responsible for determining and 
reviewing remuneration arrangements for its 
directors and executives. The performance 
of the consolidated entity depends on 
the quality of its directors and executives. 
The remuneration philosophy is to attract, 
motivate and retain high performance and 
high quality personnel. 

The Board has structured an executive 
remuneration framework that is market 
competitive and complementary to the reward 
strategy of the consolidated entity.

The reward framework is designed to align 
executive reward to shareholders’ interests. 
The Board have considered that it should seek 
to enhance shareholders’ interests by:

• having economic profit as a core 
component of plan design

• focusing on sustained growth in 
shareholder wealth, consisting of 
dividends and growth in share price, and 
delivering constant or increasing return on 
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assets as well as focusing the executive on 
key non-financial drivers of value

• attracting and retaining high calibre 
executives

Additionally, the reward framework should 

seek to enhance executives’ interests by:

• rewarding capability and experience

• reflecting competitive reward for 

contribution to growth in shareholder 

wealth

• providing a clear structure for earning 

rewards

In accordance with best practice corporate 

governance, the structure of non-executive 

director and executive director remuneration 

is separate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

REMUNERATION

Fees and payments to non-executive directors 
reflect the demands and responsibilities of 
their role. Non-executive directors’ fees and 
payments are reviewed annually. The Board 
may, from time to time, receive advice from 
independent remuneration consultants to 
ensure non-executive directors’ fees and 
payments are appropriate and in line with the 
market. The chairman’s fees are determined 
independently to the fees of other non-
executive directors based on comparative 
roles in the external market. The chairman 
is not present at any discussions relating to 
the determination of his own remuneration. 
Non-executive directors are entitled to receive 
share options under the Employee Share 
Option Plan. 

ASX listing rules require the aggregate 
non-executive directors’ remuneration be 
determined periodically by a general meeting. 
The approval of a maximum annual aggregate 
remuneration for non-executive directors 
will be tabled at the company’s next Annual 
General Meeting to be held on 21 October 
2019. 

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

The consolidated entity aims to reward 

executives based on their position and 

responsibility, with a level and mix of 

remuneration which has both fixed and 

variable components. 

The executive remuneration and reward 

framework has four components:

• base pay and non-monetary benefits

• short-term performance incentives

• share-based payments

• other remuneration such as 

superannuation and long service leave

The combination of these comprises the 

executive’s total remuneration.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, 

superannuation and non-monetary benefits, 

are reviewed annually by the Board based on 

individual and business unit performance, the 

overall performance of the consolidated entity 

and comparable market remunerations.

Executives may receive their fixed 

remuneration in the form of cash or other 

fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle 

benefits) where it does not create any 

additional costs to the consolidated entity and 

provides additional value to the executive.

The long-term incentives include share-based 

payments. Options to acquire shares may be 

awarded to executives.  

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PERFORMANCE 

AND LINK TO REMUNERATION

Remuneration for certain individuals is 

directly linked to the performance of the 

consolidated entity. A portion of cash bonus 

and incentive payments are dependent on 

defined earnings per share targets being met. 

The remaining portion of the cash bonus and 

incentive payments are at the discretion of the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Refer to the section ‘Additional information’ 

below for details of the earnings and total 

shareholders return for the last five years.

USE OF REMUNERATION CONSULTANTS

The company did not engage remuneration consultants during the financial year ended 30 June 

2019.

VOTING AND COMMENTS MADE AT THE COMPANY’S 23 NOVEMBER 2017 ANNUAL GENERAL 

MEETING (‘AGM’)

At the 26 November 2018 AGM, 93% of the votes received supported the adoption of the 

remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2018. The company did not receive any specific 

feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices.

DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 

AMOUNTS OF REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consolidated entity are set out in 

the following tables.

The key management personnel of the consolidated entity consisted of the following directors 

of United Networks Limited:

• Anthony Ghattas - Non-executive Chairman

• Nicholas Ghattas - Director and Chief Executive Officer

• Charbel Nader - Non-executive Director

And the following person:

• Michael Potts - Chief Finance Officer

Short-term benefits
Post-employment

benefits
Long-term

benefits

2019
Cash salary

and fees
$

Non-monetary
$

Superannuation
$

Termination 
benefits $

Long service
leave

$

Total
$

Non-Executive Directors:
Anthony Ghattas 6,000 - 1,330 - - 7,330
Charbel Nader 8,000 - 760 - - 8,760
Executive Directors:
Nicholas Ghattas 223,615 (8,560) 4,275 - 28,889 248,219
Other Key Management Personnel:
Michael Potts 181,900 3,794 16,796 - 523 203,013

Total 419,515 (4,766) 23,161 - 29,412 467,322

Short-term benefits
Post-employment

benefits
Long-term

benefits

2018
Cash salary

and fees
$

Non-monetary
$

Superannuation
$

Termination 
benefits $

Long service
leave

$

Total
$

Non-Executive Directors:

Anthony Ghattas 85,731 - 7,767 - - 93,498 

Charbel Nader 48,000 - 4,560 - - 52,560 

Executive Directors:

Nicholas Ghattas 280,231 7,942 11,955 - 14,509 314,637

Other Key Management Personnel:

Neil Brener* 164,363 (5,889) 14,318 11,086 (4) 183,874

Michael Potts 176,800 4,939 16,796 - 69 198,604

Total 755,125 6,992 55,396 11,086 14,574 843,173

* Neil Brener ceased employment on 23 March 2018
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The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

Fixed remuneration
2019

Fixed remuneration
2018

At risk - STI
2019

At risk - LTI
2019

Non-Executive Directors:

Anthony Ghattas 100% 100% - -

Charbel Nader 100% 100% - -

Executive Directors:

Nicholas Ghattas 100% 100% - -

Other Key Management Personnel:

Neil Brener - 100% - -

Michael Potts 100% 100% - -

SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Remuneration and other terms of employment 

for key management personnel are formalised 

in service agreements. 

Details of these agreements are as follows:

Name: Nicholas Ghattas

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Agreement commenced: 1 November 2015

Term of agreement: On-going

Details: Base salary of $295,000 per annum, 

to be reviewed annually by the Board. The 

contract may be terminated by the company 

giving a 12 months notice and the CEO giving 

the greater of 4 weeks and the notice required 

under the Fair Work Act. There is no provision 

in the contract for a payout on termination 

other than accrued pay, leave entitlements or 

other statutory payments.

Name: Michael Potts

Title: Chief Finance Officer

Agreement commenced: 31 August 2015

Term of agreement: On-going

Details: Base salary of $181,900 per annum. 

The contract may be terminated by either 

party giving to the other party notice in 

accordance with an applicable Industrial 

Instrument of the Fair Work Act. There is 

no provision in the contract for a payout on 

termination other than accrued pay, leave 

entitlements or other statutory payments.

Key management personnel have no 

entitlement to termination payments in the 

event of removal for misconduct.

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.

The options granted to Directors were in terms of the Employee Share Option Plan and were 

granted over unissued fully paid ordinary shares in the company. Options vest based on the 

provision of service over the vesting period whereby the Director becomes beneficially entitled to 

the option on vesting date. Options are exercisable by the holder as from the vesting date. There 

has not been any alteration to the terms or conditions of the grant since the grant date. There are 

no amounts paid or payable by the recipient in relation to the granting of such options other than 

on their potential exercise.

There were no options that were exercised, forfeited or lapsed during the year.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five years to 30 June 2019 are summarised 

below:

Name
Number of 

options
granted

Grant Date
Vesting date 

and exercisable 
date

Expiry date Exercise price
Fair value

per option
at grant date

Anthony Ghattas 5,250,000 01/07/2016 01/07/2018 11/11/2021 $0.300 $0.000

Nicholas Ghattas 5,250,000 01/07/2016 01/07/2018 11/11/2021 $0.300 $0.000

Charbel Nader 3,500,000 01/07/2016 01/07/2018 11/11/2021 $0.300 $0.000

Name
2019

$
2018

$
2017

$
2016

$
2015

$

Sales revenue 2,433,064 2,617,734 5,142,500 6,926,658 5,892,531

EBITDA (132,009) (17,865,504) (309,067) 1,019,643 83,954

EBIT (1,056,365) (18,840,274) (1,050,522) 347,477 (188,224)

Profit/(loss) after income tax (1,083,886) (19,268,609) (1,037,177) 337,001 (260,689)

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

ISSUE OF SHARES

There were no shares issued to directors and 

other key management personnel as part of 

compensation during the year ended 30 June 

2019 (2018: nil).

OPTIONS

The terms and conditions of each grant 

of options over ordinary shares affecting 

remuneration of directors and other key 

management personnel in this financial year or 

future reporting years are as follows:
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Balance at the
start of the year

Received as part of
remuneration

Additions Disposals/other
Balance at the end 

of the year

Ordinary shares

Anthony Ghattas 38,238,124 - - - 38,238,124

Nicholas Ghattas 38,208,124 - - - 38,208,124

Charbel Nader 90,000 - - - 90,000

Michael Potts 25,000 - - - 25,000

Total 76,561,248 - - - 76,561,248

Balance at the
start of the year

Granted Exercised
Expired/forfeited/

other
Balance at the end 

of the year

Ordinary shares

Anthony Ghattas 5,250,000 - - - 5,250,000

Nicholas Ghattas 5,250,000 - - - 5,250,000

Charbel Nader 3,500,000 - - - 3,500,000

Total 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES RELATING TO KEY 
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

SHAREHOLDING

The number of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director and other 

members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally 

related parties, is set out below:

OPTION HOLDING

The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each 

director and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including 

their personally related parties, is set out below:

LOANS TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

AND THEIR RELATED PARTIES

There were no loans owing by key 

management personnel of the group, 

including their close family members and 

entities related to them, at 30 June 2019 and 

30 June 2018.

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY 

MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND THEIR 

RELATED PARTIES

The consolidated entity sold goods and 

services (IT support, telephone and internet, 

IT and network equipment and infrastructure 

services), during the year in the sum of 

$180,058 (2018: $135,731) to 7 entities in 

which Mr Anthony Ghattas is a director and 

a controlling shareholder. The contracts 

were based on normal commercial terms and 

conditions.

The consolidated entity purchased goods and 

services (rent, parking, shared office services 

and amenities and HR services) during the 

year in the sum of $182,721 (2018: $372,617) 

from 5 entities in which Mr Anthony Ghattas is 

a director and a controlling shareholder. The 

contracts were based on normal commercial 

terms and conditions. 

 Included in trade and other receivables at 30 

June 2019 is a security deposit on the rental 

premises of $39,331 (2018: $39,331) held by 

a Director related entity. The security deposit 

will be refunded on termination of the lease. 

Included in current borrowings at 30 June 

2019 is a promissory note due to a director 

related entity of $155,692 (2018: $315,454). 

The promissory note is secured under a 

General Security Agreement and interest is 

charged at the average bid rate for bills plus a 

margin of 3%.

 

Aggregate amounts of each of the above 

types of other transactions with key 

management personnel and their related 

entities:

Amounts recognised as revenue

Sale of goods: $117,975 (2018: $84,242)

Services: $62,083 (2018: $51,489)

Amounts recognised as expenses

Administration: $182,721 (2018: $372,617)

Interest paid: $11,629 (2018: $23,021)

Amounts recognised as trade and other 

receivables

Trade receivables: $118,298 (2018: $58,622)

Security deposit: $39,331 (2018: $39,331)

Amounts recognised as trade and other 

payables

Trade payables: $nil (2018: $10,279)

Amounts recognised as borrowings

Promissory note: $155,692 (2018: $315,454)

There were no other transactions with 

key management personnel of the group, 

including their close family members and 

entities related to them, during the financial 

year ended 30 June 2019.

This concludes the remuneration report, 

which has been audited.
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SHARES UNDER OPTION

Unissued ordinary shares of United Networks 

Limited under option at the date of this report 

are as follows:

* Options granted to the Directors
** Options granted to the Lead Manager in relation to the 
company’s initial publicoffer of shares
*** Options granted to the Corporate Advisor in consideration 
for consultancy services in relation to the company’s initial 
public offer of shares

No person entitled to exercise the options 

had or has any right by virtue of the option to 

participate in any share issue of the company 

or of any other body corporate.

No options were granted to the directors or 

any of the five highest remunerated officers 

of the company since the end of the financial 

year.

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF 

OPTIONS

There were no ordinary shares of United 

Networks Limited issued on the exercise of 

options during the year ended 30 June 2019 

and up to the date of this report.

USE OF CASH AND ASSETS READILY 

CONVERTIBLE TO CASH SINCE ADMISSION 

TO ASX OFFICIAL LIST.

In accordance with Listing Rule 4.10.19 the 

company confirms that the consolidated entity 

has been utilising the cash and assets in a form 

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

Price

Number 
under 

option

1 July 2016*
1 November 

2021
$0.300 14,000,000

2 November 2016**
2 November 

2021
$0.300 1,000,000

11 November 
2016***

11 November
2021

$0.300 1,000,000

Total 16,000,000

readily convertible to cash, that it held at the 

time of its admission to the Official List of ASX 

in the current reporting period in a way that is 

consistent with its business objectives.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

The company has indemnified the directors 

and executives of the company for costs 

incurred, in their capacity as a director 

or executive, for which they may be held 

personally liable, except where there is a lack 

of good faith.

During the financial year, the company paid 

a premium in respect of a contract to insure 

the directors and executives of the company 

against a liability to the extent permitted by 

the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of 

insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of 

the liability and the amount of the premium.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR

The company has not, during or since the end 

of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to 

indemnify the auditor of the company or any 

related entity against a liability incurred by the 

auditor.

During the financial year, the company has 

not paid a premium in respect of a contract 

to insure the auditor of the company or any 

related entity.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE 

COMPANY

No person has applied to the Court under 

section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for 

leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 

company, or to intervene in any proceedings to 

which the company is a party for the purpose 

of taking responsibility on behalf of the 

company for all or part of those proceedings.

Nicholas Ghattas

Chief Executive Officer and Director

30 September 2019

Sydney

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the 

auditor for non-audit services provided during 

the financial year by the auditor are outlined in 

note 25 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision 

of non-audit services during the financial year, 

by the auditor (or by another person or firm on 

the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the 

general standard of independence for auditors 

imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the 

services as disclosed in note 25 to the financial 

statements do not compromise the external 

auditor’s independence requirements of 

the Corporations Act 2001 for the following 

reasons:

• all non-audit services have been reviewed 

and approved to ensure that they do not 

impact the integrity and objectivity of the 

auditor; and

• none of the services undermine the 

general principles relating to auditor 

independence as set out in APES 110 Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

issued by the Accounting Professional 

and Ethical Standards Board, including 

reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 

work, acting in a management or decision-

making capacity for the company, acting 

as advocate for the company or jointly 

sharing economic risks and rewards.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditor’s independence 

declaration as required under section 307C 

of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 

immediately after this directors’ report.

AUDITOR

Rothsay Chartered Accountants continues in 

office in accordance with section 327 of the 

Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a 

resolution of directors, pursuant to section 

298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors



AUDITOR’S
INDEPENDENCE
DECLARATION UNDER
SECTION 307C OF THE
CORPORATIONS ACT
2001

 

15 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

 

As lead auditor of United Networks Limited for the year ended 30 June 2019, I declare that, to the best of 
my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of United Networks Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 

 

Rothsay Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

 
Frank Vrachas 

Partner 

Sydney, 30 September 2019 
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FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The financial statements cover United Networks Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of 

United Networks Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The 

financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is United Networks Limited’s 

functional and presentation currency.

United Networks Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 

Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Suite 201, Level 2

100 William Street 

Woolloomooloo

NSW 2011 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities are 

included in the directors’ report, which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 

30 September 2019. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
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Note
2019 

$
2018 

$

Revenue 4 3,002,339 2,626,009

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 8,338 42,376

Expenses

Cost of sales (1,380,724) (1,775,523)

Marketing (91,685) (50,599)

Occupancy - (11,926)

Administration (1,560,008) (2,385,159)

Impairment of goodwill 12 - (16,016,577)

Other expenses (1,085,902) (1,226,499)

Finance costs 5 (24,450) (51,769)

Loss before income tax (expense)/benefit (1,132,092) (18,849,667)

Income tax benefit 6 - (418,942)

Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners 
of United Networks Limited

21 (1,132,092) (19,268,609)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 
United Networks Limited

(1,132,092) (19,268,609)

Note Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 32 (0.90) (15.31)

Diluted earnings per share 32 (0.90) (15.31)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Note
2019 

$
2018 

$

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 525,890 1,355,892 

Trade and other receivables 8 372,269 372,898 

Inventories 9 61,964 90,900 

Other 10 71,596 103,700 

Total current assets 1,031,719 1,923,390 

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 92,016 361,386 

Intangibles 12 1,551,808 1,981,955 

Total non-current assets 1,643,824 2,343,341 

Total assets 2,675,543 4,266,731 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 491,464 616,484 

Contract liabilities 15 20,000 -

Borrowings 16 204,755 505,704 

Provisions 17 123,484 147,815 

Total current liabilities 839,703 1,270,003 

Non-current Liabilities

Borrowings 18 - 87,188 

Provisions 58,392 -  

Total non-current liabilities 58,392 87,188 

Total liabilities 898,095 1,357,191

Net Assets 1,777,448 2,909,540 

Equity

Issued capital 20 24,278,800 24,278,800 

Accumulated losses 21 (22,501,352) (21,369,260)

Total equity 1,777,448 2,909,540 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30
JUNE 2019
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Issued Capital
$

Accumulated Losses
$

Total equity
$

Balance at 1 July 2017 24,278,800 (2,100,651) 22,178,149

Loss after income tax benefit for the year - (19,268,609) (19,268,609)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - (19,268,609) (19,268,609)

Balance at 30 June 2018 24,278,800 (21,369,260) 2,909,540

Issued Capital
$

Accumulated Losses
$

Total equity
$

Balance at 1 July 2018 24,278,800 (21,369,260) 2,909,540

Loss after income tax expense for the year - (1,132,092) (1,132,092)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year - (1,132,092) (1,132,092)

Balance at 30 June 2019 24,278,800 (22,501,352) 1,777,448

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Note
2019 

$
2018 

$

Cash-flows for operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 2,545,169 3,506,670 

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (3,294,189) (5,275,530)

(749,020) (1,768,860)

R&D tax incentive 606,070 519,033

Interest received 8,338 42,376

Export market development grant 58,099 -

Interest and other finance costs paid (20,877) (70,524)

Net cash used in operating activities 30 (97,390) (1,277,975)

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 11 (10,077) (10,385)

Payments for intangibles 12 (394,755) (892,499)

Loans repaid by/(advanced to) other entities - 1,905 

Net cash used in investing activities (404,832) (900,979)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (327,780) (680,103)

Net cash used in financing activities (327,780) (680,103)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (830,002) (2,859,057)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year

1,355,892 4,214,949 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

financial year
7 525,890 1,355,892 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 30 
JUNE 2019

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in 

the preparation of the financial statements are 

set out either in the respective notes or below. 

These policies have been consistently applied 

to all the years presented, unless otherwise 

stated.

NEW OR AMENDED ACCOUNTING 

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

ADOPTED

The consolidated entity has adopted all of 

the new or amended Accounting Standards 

and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are 

mandatory for the current reporting period. 

None of the new standards and amendments 

to standards affected any of the amounts 

recognised in the current period or any prior 

period. 

During the financial year ended 30 June 

2016, the consolidated entity elected to early 

adopted AASB 15 ‘Revenue from contracts 

with customers’ and AASB 16 ‘Leases’. AASB 

15 and AASB 16 are applicable to annual 

financial reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018 and 1 January 2019 

respectively. Any other new or amended 

Accounting Standards or Interpretations that 

are not yet mandatory have not been early 

adopted.

GOING CONCERN

For the year ended 30 June 2019 the 

consolidated entity incurred a loss after 

income tax of $1,132,092 (2018: $19,268,609) 

and net cash outflows from operating 

activities of $97,390 (2018: $1,277,975). The 

net operating loss for the financial year ended 

30 June 2018, excluding the impairment of 

goodwill ($16,016,577) and the write back of 

the net deferred tax asset ($418,942), was 

$2,833,090. The recurring historical operating 

losses and net cash outflows from operating 

activities give rise to a material uncertainty 

that may cast significant doubt about the 

ability of the consolidated entity to continue 

as a going concern.

The ability of the consolidated entity to 

maintain continuity of normal business 

activities and to pay its debts as and when 

they fall due is dependent on the consolidated 

entity having sufficient working capital to fund 

its activities.

On 13 September 2019, United Networks 

Limited (UNL) announced it had entered into 

a binding agreement to acquire 100% of 

the Broadland Group (BLG) which comprises 

Broadland Solutions Pty Ltd and Broadland 

Victoria Pty Ltd and its related entities for 

a consideration of $9.5 million (refer note 

29). The transaction is subject to shareholder 

approval at the AGM on 21 October 2019. 

The acquisition is expected to increase both 

revenue and the profitability of UNL and 

post-transaction cash on hand is expected to 

increase to over $2 million. The acquisition, 

should it be approved, is expected to mitigate 

the material uncertainty related to the ability 

of the consolidated entity to continue as 

a going concern. The UNL Directors, who 

collectively hold 60.72% of the voting rights in 

UNL, unanimously recommend the transaction 

to shareholders and have stated that they 

intend to vote, or cause to be voted, all UNL 

shares held or controlled by them, or on 

their behalf, in favour of all the resolutions 

associated with this transaction at the 

forthcoming AGM. The resolutions must be 

approved by at least 50% of the total number 

of votes cast at the AGM. The UNL Directors 

consider that it is highly unlikely that the 

transaction will not be completed.

However, in the unlikely event the transaction 

is not completed, the UNL Directors have 

prepared a consolidated income and 

expenditure budget and cash flow budget for 

the 2020 financial year, based on reasonable 

assumptions. The Directors are budgeting for a 

modest surplus for the 30 June 2020 financial 

year and for a positive working capital balance 

throughout the period.

In preparing the budget, the Directors note 

the following:

• The consolidated entity, with the 

implementation of eSIM and restructuring, 

has significantly increased its gross profit 

percentage by 27% to 41% of Sales 

(excluding R&D Grants) (30 June 2018 

gross profit percentage: 32%).

• The consolidated entity has restructured 

overheads achieving a 34.6% reduction in 

operational costs (excluding depreciation, 

amortisation and interest) in the 2019 

financial year. Opportunities to further 

reduce costs have been identified for 

the 2020 financial year should this be 

necessary.

• The company has announced the 

successful launch of its global eSIM 

in February 2019 which has received 

significant interest from partners in 

the first four months of release and is 

growing sales each month since the launch 

representing over 20% of SIM sales as at 

June 2019.

Based on the above, the Directors are of the 

opinion that at the date of signature of the 

financial report there are reasonable and 

supportable grounds to believe that the 

consolidated entity will be able to meet its 

liabilities from its assets in the ordinary course 

of business, for a period of not less than 12 

months from the date of signature of the audit 

report on this financial report or to the date of 

signature of the audit report on the financial 

report for the year ending 30 June 2020, and 

has accordingly prepared the financial report 

on a going concern basis. 

Should the consolidated entity be unable to 

continue as a going concern it may be required 

to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities 

other than in the normal course of business 

at amounts different to those stated in the 

financial statements. The financial statements 

do not include any adjustments relating to 

the recoverability and classification of asset 

carrying amounts or the amount of liabilities 

that might result should the consolidated 

entity be unable to continue as a going 

concern and meet its debts as and when they 

fall due.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These general purpose financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the 

Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for 

for-profit oriented entities. These financial 

statements also comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board 

(‘IASB’).

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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HISTORICAL COST CONVENTION

The financial statements have been prepared 

under the historical cost convention, except 

for, where applicable, financial assets and 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements 

requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of 

applying the consolidated entity’s accounting 

policies. The areas involving a higher degree 

of judgement or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions & estimates are significant to the 

financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

In accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, these financial statements present 

the results of the consolidated entity only. 

Supplementary information about the parent 

entity is disclosed in note 27.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements 

incorporate the assets and liabilities of all 

subsidiaries of United Networks Limited 

(‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 

2019 and the results of all subsidiaries for the 

year then ended. United Networks Limited 

and its subsidiaries together are referred to in 

these financial statements as the ‘consolidated 

entity’. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which 

the consolidated entity has control. The 

consolidated entity controls an entity when 

the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has 

rights to, variable returns from its involvement 

with the entity and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power to direct the 

activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated from the date on which control 

is transferred to the consolidated entity. They 

are de-consolidated from the date that control 

ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 

unrealised gains on transactions between 

entities in the consolidated entity are 

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides 

evidence of the impairment of the asset 

transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 

have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the 

consolidated entity.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for 

using the acquisition method of accounting. 

A change in ownership interest, without the 

loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 

transaction, where the difference between the 

consideration transferred and the book value 

of the share of the non-controlling interest 

acquired is recognised directly in equity 

attributable to the parent.

Where the consolidated entity loses control 

over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets 

including goodwill, liabilities and non-

controlling interest in the subsidiary together 

with any cumulative translation differences 

recognised in equity. The consolidated entity 

recognises the fair value of the consideration 

received and the fair value of any investment 

retained together with any gain or loss in 

profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or benefit for the 

period is the tax payable on that period’s 

taxable income based on the applicable 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted 

by the changes in deferred tax assets 

and liabilities attributable to temporary 

differences, unused tax losses and the 

adjustment recognised for prior periods, 

where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

recognised for temporary differences at the 

tax rates expected to be applied when the 

assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, 

based on those tax rates that are enacted or 

substantively enacted, except for:

• When the deferred income tax asset or 

liability arises from the initial recognition 

of goodwill or an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting 

nor taxable profits; or

• When the taxable temporary difference is 

associated with interests in subsidiaries, 

associates or joint ventures, and the timing 

of the reversal can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary difference 

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 

deductible temporary differences and unused 

tax losses only if it is probable that future 

taxable amounts will be available to utilise 

those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and 

unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed 

at each reporting date. Deferred tax assets 

recognised are reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that future taxable profits 

will be available for the carrying amount to be 

recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred 

tax assets are recognised to the extent that 

it is probable that there are future taxable 

profits available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 

only where there is a legally enforceable right 

to offset current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against 

deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the 

same taxable authority on either the same 

taxable entity or different taxable entities 

which intend to settle simultaneously.

 nited Networks Limited (the ‘head entity’) 

and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries 

have formed an income tax consolidated 

group under the tax consolidation regime. 

The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax 

consolidated group continue to account for 

their own current and deferred tax amounts. 

The tax consolidated group has applied the 

‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach in 

determining the appropriate amount of taxes 

to allocate to members of the tax consolidated 

group.

In addition to its own current and deferred 

tax amounts, the head entity also recognises 

the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 

deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 

losses and unused tax credits assumed from 

each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding 

agreements with the tax consolidated 

entities are recognised as amounts receivable 

from or payable to other entities in the 

tax consolidated group. The tax funding 

arrangement ensures that the intercompany 

charge equals the current tax liability or 

benefit of each tax consolidated group 

member, resulting in neither a contribution 

by the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a 

distribution by the subsidiaries to the head 

entity. 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 

CLASSIFICATION

Assets and liabilities are presented in the 

statement of financial position based on 

current and non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is 

either expected to be realised or intended 

to be sold or consumed in the consolidated 

entity’s normal operating cycle; it is held 

primarily for the purpose of trading; it is 

expected to be realised within 12 months after 

the reporting period; or the asset is cash or 

cash equivalent unless restricted from being 

exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 

least 12 months after the reporting period. All 

other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: 

it is either expected to be settled in the 

consolidated entity’s normal operating cycle; it 

is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it 

is due to be settled within 12 months after the 

reporting period; or there is no unconditional 

right to defer the settlement of the liability 

for at least 12 months after the reporting 

period. All other liabilities are classified as 

non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always 

classified as non-current.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL 

ASSETS

Investments and other financial assets are 

initially measured at fair value. Transaction 

costs are included as part of the initial 

measurement, except for financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss. Such 

assets are subsequently measured at either 

amortised cost or fair value depending on 

their classification. Classification is determined 

based on both the business model within 

which such assets are held and the contractual 

cash flow characteristics of the financial 

asset unless, an accounting mismatch is being 

avoided. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the 

rights to receive cash flows have expired or 

have been transferred and the consolidated 

entity has transferred substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership. When there is 

no reasonable expectation of recovering part 

or all of a financial asset, it’s carrying value is 

written off.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables are non-derivative 

financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in anactive 

market. They are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method. Gains 

and losses are recognised in profit or loss 

when the asset is derecognised or impaired.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The consolidated entity recognises a loss 

allowance for expected credit losses on 

financial assets which are either measured 

at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income. The measurement 

of the loss allowance depends upon the 

consolidated entity’s assessment at the end 

of each reporting period as to whether the 

financial instrument’s credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, based on 

reasonable and supportable information that 

is available, without undue cost or effort to 

obtain. 

Where there has not been a significant 

increase in exposure to credit risk since initial 

recognition, a 12-month expected credit 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

loss allowance is estimated. This represents 

a portion of the asset’s lifetime expected 

credit losses that is attributable to a default 

event that is possible within the next 12 

months. Where a financial asset has become 

credit impaired or where it is determined 

that credit risk has increased significantly, 

the loss allowance is based on the asset’s 

lifetime expected credit losses. The amount of 

expected credit loss recognised is measured 

on the basis of the probability weighted 

present value of anticipated cash shortfalls 

over the life of the instrument discounted at 

the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income, the 

loss allowance is recognised within other 

comprehensive income. In all other cases, the 

loss allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

LEASES

A lease is a contract or part of a contract, 

that conveys the right to control the use of 

an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. All leases that 

the company enters into as lessee, except for 

short-term leases (leases of 12 months or less) 

and leases of low-value assets, are recognised 

in the statement of financial position. 

For leases that are recognised in the 

statement of financial position, a right-of-use 

asset and a lease liability are measured as 

the present value of the unavoidable future 

lease payments to be made over the lease 

term. The lease payments are discounted 

using the interest rate implicit in the lease, 

if that rate can be readily determined, or if 

that rate cannot be readily determined, the 

company’s incremental borrowing rate. After 

the initial recognition of the lease liability, the 

lease liability is remeasured to reflect changes 

to the lease payments and the amount of 

the remeasurement of the lease liability is 

recognised as an adjustment to the right-of-

use asset. 

The company accounts for a lease modification 

as a separate lease if the modification 

increases the scope of the lease by adding the 

right to use one or more underlying assets 

and the consideration for the lease increases 

by an amount commensurate with the stand-

alone price for the increase in scope and any 

appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone 

price to reflect the circumstances of the 

particular contract. 

A depreciation charge for the leased asset 

(included in ‘other expenses’) and an interest 

expense on the recognised lease liability 

(included in ‘finance costs’) is recognised. If the 

lease transfers ownership of the underlying 

asset to the company by the end of the lease 

term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset 

reflects that the company will exercise a 

purchase option, the company depreciates the 

right-of-use asset from the commencement 

date to the end of the useful life of the 

underlying asset. Otherwise, the company 

depreciates the right-of-use asset from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end 

of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 

the end of the lease term. 

For short-term leases or leases for which 

the underlying asset is of low value, the 

lease payments associated with those leases 

are recognised as an expense on either a 

straight-line basis over the lease term or 

another systematic basis if that basis is more 

representative of the pattern of the company’s 

benefit. 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
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IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Goodwill and other intangible assets that 

have an indefinite useful life are not subject 

to amortisation and are tested annually for 

impairment, or more frequently if events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that they 

might be impaired. Other non-financial assets 

are reviewed for impairment whenever events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 

impairment loss is recognised for the amount 

by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 

its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 

fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-

use. The value-in-use is the present value of 

the estimated future cash flows relating to 

the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific 

to the asset or cash-generating unit to which 

the asset belongs. Assets that do not have 

independent cash flows are grouped together 

to form a cash-generating unit.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets 

are capitalised as part of the asset. All other 

finance costs are expensed in the period in 

which they are incurred.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (‘GST’) AND 

OTHER SIMILAR TAXES

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised 

net of the amount of associated GST, unless 

the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 

tax authority. In this case it is recognised as 

part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset 

or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive 

of the amount of GST receivable or payable. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the tax authority is included in 

other receivables or other payables in the 

statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. 

The GST components of cash flows arising 

from investing or financing activities which 

are recoverable from, or payable to the tax 

authority, are presented as operating cash 

flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 

net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the tax authority.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND 

INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET MANDATORY 

OR EARLY ADOPTED

Australian Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations that have recently been issued 

or amended but are not yet mandatory, have 

not been early adopted by the consolidated 

entity for the annual reporting period ended 

30 June 2019. Based on the preliminary 

analysis performed, the consolidated entity 

does not expect that any of these standards 

and interpretations will have a material impact 

on the consolidated entity’s financial report.

NOTE 2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements 

requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts in the financial statements. 

Management continually evaluates its 

judgements and estimates in relation to 

assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, 
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revenue and expenses. Management bases 

its judgements, estimates and assumptions 

on historical experience and on other various 

factors, including expectations of future 

events, management believes to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. The resulting 

accounting judgements and estimates will 

seldom equal the related actual results. The 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) 

within the next financial year are discussed 

below.

ESTIMATION OF USEFUL LIVES OF ASSETS

The consolidated entity determines the 

estimated useful lives and related depreciation 

and amortisation charges for its plant and 

equipment and finite life intangible assets. 

The useful lives could change significantly as a 

result of technical innovations or some other 

event. The depreciation and amortisation 

charge will increase where the useful lives 

are less than previously estimated lives, or 

technically obsolete or non-strategic assets 

that have been abandoned or sold will be 

written off or written down.

GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

The consolidated entity tests annually, or 

more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate impairment, whether 

goodwill has suffered any impairment. The 

recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 

have been determined based on value-in-use 

calculations. These calculations require the use 

of assumptions, including estimated discount 

rates based on the current cost of capital and 

growth rates of the estimated future cash 

flows. The company undertook an assessment 

of the recoverable amount of goodwill at 30 

June 2018, and as a result of this assessment, 

the Directors determined to fully impair the 

goodwill amount of $16,016,577. The reasons 

for impairment of goodwill were principally 

due to the cancellation of the Covermore 

contract in the 2018 financial year and a 

decrease in sales volume in the Global SIM 

business. 

NOTE 3. OPERATING SEGMENTS

IDENTIFICATION OF REPORTABLE 

OPERATING SEGMENTS 

Operating segments are identified based 

on separate financial information which is 

regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors, 

representing the consolidated entity’s Chief 

Operating Decision Makers (CODM), in 

assessing performance and determining the 

allocation of resources.

The consolidated entity operates in 

primarily one geographical segment, namely 

Australia. The primary business segment is 

telecommunications namely voice, data and 

value added services. As the consolidated 

entity operates in only one segment, the 

consolidated results are also its segment 

results.

The consolidated entity operates in one 

geographical segment being Australia. 

Revenue from overseas customers is not 

material to the consolidated entity.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

All revenue of the consolidated entity is from 

external customers. During the year ended 30 

June 2019 there were no transactions with a 

single external customer that amounted to 10 

NOTE 2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS CONTINUED
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2019
$

2018
$

Sales revenue

Sale of goods 26,349 59,104 

Services 2,309,345 2,558,630 

2,335,694 2,617,734 

Other revenue

R&D incentive grant 606,070 -

Export Market Development 
Grant

58,099 -  

Other revenue 2,476 8,275 

666,645 50,651 

Revenue 3,002,339 2,668,385 

NOTE 4. REVENUE

per cent or more of the consolidated entity’s 

revenues. For the year ended 30 June 2018, 

31% of the consolidated entity’s external sales 

revenue was derived from sales to a single 

customer.

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR OPERATING 

SEGMENTS

Operating segments are presented using 

the ‘management approach’, where the 

information presented is on the same basis 

as the internal reports provided to the 

Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). 

The CODM is responsible for the allocation 

of resources to operating segments and 

assessing their performance.

NOTE 3. OPERATING SEGMENTS CONTINUED

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR REVENUE 

RECOGNITION

The consolidated entity recognises revenue as 

follows:

Revenue From Contracts With Customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that 

reflects the consideration to which the 

consolidated entity is expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods 

or services to a customer. For each contract 

with a customer, the consolidated entity: 

identifies the contract with a customer; 

identifies the performance obligations in 

the contract; determines the transaction 

price which takes into account estimates of 

variable consideration and the time value of 

money; allocates the transaction price to the 

separate performance obligations on the basis 

of the relative stand-alone selling price of 

each distinct good or service to be delivered; 

and recognises revenue when or as each 

performance obligation is satisfied in a manner 

that depicts the transfer to the customer of 

the goods or services promised. 

Variable consideration within the transaction 

price, if any, reflects concessions provided to 

the customer such as discounts, rebates and 

refunds, any potential bonuses receivable 

from the customer and any other contingent 

events. Such estimates are determined 

using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most 

likely amount’ method. The measurement 

of variable consideration is subject to a 

constraining principle whereby revenue will 

only be recognised to the extent that it is 

highly probable that a significant reversal in 

the amount of cumulative revenue recognised 

will not occur. The measurement constraint 

continues until the uncertainty associated with 

the variable consideration is subsequently 

resolved. Amounts received that are subject to 

the constraining principle are recognised as a 

refund liability. 

SALE OF GOODS (TELECOMMUNICATIONS 

HARDWARE)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 

when control of the products has transferred 

to the customer. This will usually occur on 

delivery of the goods. Amounts disclosed as 

revenue are net of sales returns and trade 

discounts.

RENDERING OF SERVICES

The consolidated entity generates revenues 

from after-sales service and maintenance 

provided as well as construction contracts for 

telecommunication solutions. Consideration 

received for those services is initially deferred, 

included in other liabilities and is recognised 

as revenue in the period when the service is 

performed. In recognising after-sales service 

and maintenance revenues, the consolidated 

entity considers the nature of the service and 

the customer’s use of the related products, 

based on historical experience.

CONTRACTS FOR TELECOMMUNICATION 

SOLUTIONS

Construction contracts for telecommunication 

systems specify a fixed price for the 

development and installation of IT and 

telecommunication systems. When the 

outcome can be assessed reliably, contract 

revenue and associated costs are recognised 

by reference to the stage of completion of 

the contract activity at the reporting date. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

consideration received or receivable in relation 

to that activity. When the consolidated entity 

cannot measure the outcome of a contract 

reliably, revenue is recognised only to the 

extent of contract costs that have been 

incurred and are recoverable. Contract costs 

are recognised in the period in which they 

are incurred. In either situation, when it is 

probable that total contract costs will exceed 

total contract revenue, the expected loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

INTEREST

Interest revenue is recognised as interest 

accrues using the effective interest method. 

This is a method of calculating the amortised 

cost of a financial asset and allocating the 

interest income over the relevant period 

using the effective interest rate, which is the 

rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash receipts through the expected life of the 

financial asset to the net carrying amount of 

the financial asset.

OTHER REVENUE

Other revenue is recognised when it is 

received or when the right to receive payment 

is established.

NOTE 4. REVENUE CONTINUED
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NOTE 5. EXPENSES

2019
$

2018
$

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Aggregate employee benefits expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 70,828 121,976

Other employee benefits expenses 905,583 1,624,235 

976,411 1,746,211 

Less

Employee costs capitalised to web development (195,495) (347,482)

Employee benefits expense 780,916 1,398,729 

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 6,478 7,569 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 37,853 1,639 

Computer equipment 9,814 10,583 

Right-of-use assets - property leases 164,945 184,939 

Total depreciation 219,090 204,730 

Amortisation

Web development 342,944 303,792 

Software 481,958 466,248 

Total amortisation 824,902 770,040 

Finance costs

Interest on lease liabilities 8,356 18,592 

Interest on other borrowings 16,094 33,177 

Finance costs expensed 24,450 51,769 

NOTE 6. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2019
$

2018
$

Income tax expense

Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences - 418,942

Aggregate income tax expense - 418,942

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease in deferred tax assets (note 13) - 762,620

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (note 19) - (343,678)

Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences - 418,942 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

Loss before income tax expense (1,132,092) (18,849,667)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (311,325) (5,183,658)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Tax effect on research & development (167,036) -

Impairment of goodwill - 4,404,558

(478,361) (779,100)

Current year tax losses not recognised 518,591 861,935 

Current year temporary differences not recognised (40,230) (82,835)

Prior year deferred tax balances derecognised - 418,942 

Income tax expense/(benefit) - 418,942

2019
$

2018
$

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised are 
attributable to the following:

Unused tax losses 2,083,174 1,529,093

Impairment of receivables 1,087 3,623

Employee benefits 52,926 43,986

Accrued expenses 31,125 43,842

Formation expenses 88,456 176,912

Deductible temporary differences offset against taxable temporary differences (580,426) (584,472)

Total deferred tax assets not recognised 1,676,342 1,212,984

The above potential tax benefit for tax losses and deductible temporary differences has not been 

recognised in the statement of financial position as the recovery of this benefit is uncertain. The tax 

losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or failing that, 

the same business test is passed.
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NOTE 7. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTE 8. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE 
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 

hand, deposits held at call with financial 

institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three 

months or less that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR TRADE AND 

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are initially recognised 

at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any allowance for expected credit 

losses. Trade receivables are generally due for 

settlement within 30 days.

The consolidated entity has applied the 

simplified approach to measuring expected 

credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected 

loss allowance. To measure the expected 

credit losses, trade receivables have been 

grouped based on days overdue.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised 

cost, less any allowance for expected credit 

losses.

ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT 

LOSSES

The ageing of the receivables and allowance 

for expected credit losses provided for above 

are as follows:

Movements in the provision for impairment 

of receivables are as follows:

2019
$

2018
$

Cash on hand - 455

Cash at bank 484,526 780,252

Cash on deposit 40,364 575,185

PayPal 1,000 -

Total 525,890 1,355,892

2019
$

2018
$

Trade receivables 322,891 325,197

Less: Provision for 
impairment of receivables 

(3,380) (13,174)

Total 319,511 312,023

Other receivables 13,427 9,174

Security deposit 39,331 39,331 

GST receivable - 12,370 

Total 372,269 372,898

2019
$

2018
$

Past due 60+ days 3,380 13,174

2019
$

2018
$

Opening balance 13,174 34,237

Additional provisions recognised 27,337 55,328

Receivables written off during the 
year as uncollectable

(37,131) (76,391)

Closing balance 3,380 13,174

NOTE 9. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value on a ‘first in first out’ 

basis. Cost comprises of purchase and delivery 

costs, net of rebates and discounts received or 

receivable. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less 

the estimated costs of completion and the 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2019
$

2018
$

Stock on hand - at cost 61,964 90,900

2019
$

2018
$

Pre-payments 71,596 103,700

NOTE 9. CURRENT ASSETS - 
INVENTORIES

NOTE 10. CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER
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NOTE 11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

RECONCILIATIONS

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 

financial year are set out below:

2019
$

2018
$

Plant and equipment - at cost 58,663 56,999 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (32,285) (25,807)

26,378 31,192 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings - at cost 45,746 45,746

Less: Accumulated depreciation (45,746) (7,893)

- 37,853

Computer equipment - at cost 85,520 77,107

Less: Accumulated depreciation (70,957) (61,143)

14,563 15,964

Right-of-use assets - property leases 509,975 739,094

Less: Accumulated depreciation (458,900) (462,717)

51,075 276,377

Total 92,016 361,386

Plant and
equipment

$

Furniture, 
fixtures

and fittings
$

Computer
equipment

$

Right-of-use
assets - property

leases
$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2017 36,392 39,492 18,531 411,632 506,047

Additions 2,369 - 8,016 49,684 60,069

Depreciation expense (7,569)  (1,639) (10,583) (184,939) (204,730)

Balance at 30 June 2018 31,192 37,853 15,964 276,377 361,386

Additions 1,664 - 8,413 - 10,077

Right-of-use asset derecognised - - - (60,357) (60,357)

Depreciation expense (6,478) (37,853) (9,814)  (164,945) (219,090)

Balance at 30 June 2019 26,378 - 14,563 51,075 92,016

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR PROPERTY, 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment is stated at historical 

cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a reducing 

balance basis to write off the net cost of each 

item of property, plant and equipment over 

their expected useful lives as follows:

DEPRECIATION OF RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

If the lease transfers ownership of the 

underlying asset to the group by the end 

of the lease term or if the cost of the right-

of-use asset reflects that the company will 

exercise a purchase option, the company 

depreciates the right-of-use asset from the 

commencement date to the end of the useful 

life of the underlying asset. Otherwise, the 

group depreciates the right-of-use asset from 

the commencement date to the earlier of the 

end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset 

or the end of the lease term.

The residual values, useful lives and 

depreciation methods are reviewed, and 

adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of plant and equipment is 

derecognised upon disposal or when 

NOTE 11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT CONTINUED

Depreciation 
Rate

Plant and equipment 20% - 50%

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10% - 50%

Computer equipment 50%

Right-of-use assets - property 
leases

Lease term

there is no future economic benefit to the 

consolidated entity. Gains and losses between 

the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds 

are taken to profit or loss. 
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RECONCILIATIONS

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 

financial year are set out below:

NOTE 12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLES

2019
$

2018
$

Goodwill - at cost - 16,016,577 

Less: Impairment - (16,016,577)

- -

Patents, trademarks and other rights - at cost 6,413 6,413

Web development - at cost 1,520,864 1,388,617

Less: Accumulated amortisation (944,946) (602,002)

575,918 786,615

Software - at cost 2,781,000 2,518,492

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,811,523) (1,329,565)

969,477 1,188,927

1,551,808 1,981,955

Goodwill
$

Patents, 
trademarks

and other rights
$

Web 
Development

Costs
$

Software
$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2017 16,016,577 6,413 776,235 1,076,848 17,876,073

Additions - - 314,172 578,327 892,499

Impairment of assets (16,016,577) - - - (16,016,577)

Amortisation expense - - (303,792) (466,248) (770,040)

Balance at 30 June 2018 - 6,413 786,615 1,188,927 1,981,955

Additions - - 132,247 262,508 394,755

Amortisation expense - - (342,944) (481,958) (824,902)

Balance at 30 June 2019 - 6,413 575,918 969,477 1,551,808

The company undertook an assessment of 

the recoverable amount of goodwill at 30 

June 2018, and as a result of this assessment, 

the Directors determined to fully impair the 

goodwill amount of $16,016,577. The reasons 

for impairment of goodwill were principally 

due to the cancellation of the Covermore 

contract in the 2018 financial year and a 

decrease in sales volume in the Global SIM 

business.

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR INTANGIBLE 

ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired as part of a 

business combination, other than goodwill, 

are initially measured at their fair value at 

the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets 

acquired separately are initially recognised at 

cost. Indefinite life intangible assets are not 

amortised and are subsequently measured at 

cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible 

assets are subsequently measured at cost less 

amortisation and any impairment. The gains 

or losses recognised in profit or loss arising 

from the derecognition of intangible assets 

are measured as the difference between net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 

of the intangible asset. The method and 

useful lives of finite life intangible assets are 

reviewed annually. Changes in the expected 

pattern of consumption or useful life are 

accounted for prospectively by changing the 

amortisation method or period.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a 

business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, 

goodwill is tested annually for impairment, 

or more frequently if events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that it might 

be impaired, and is carried at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses. Impairment 

losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss 

and are not subsequently reversed.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research costs are expensed in the period 

in which they are incurred. Development 

costs are capitalised when it is probable that 

the project will be a success considering its 

commercial and technical feasibility; the 

consolidated entity is able to use or sell the 

asset; the consolidated entity has sufficient 

resources; and intent to complete the 

development and its costs can be measured 

reliably. Capitalised development costs are 

amortised on a straight-line basis over the 

period of their expected benefit, being their 

finite life of 4 years.

SOFTWARE AND WEB DEVELOPMENT 

COSTS

Significant costs associated with software 

and web development costs are deferred and 

amortised on a straight-line basis over the 

period of their expected benefit, being their 

finite life of 4 years.

NOTE 12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLES CONTINUED
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NOTE 13. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - 
DEFERRED TAX

NOTE 14. CURRENT LIABILITIES - 
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Refer to note 23 for further information on 
financial instruments.

Refer to note 23 for further information on 
financial instruments.

2019
$

2018
$

Movements:

Opening balance - 762,620

Credited/Charged to 
profit or loss (note 6) 

- (762,620)

Closing balance - -

2019
$

2018
$

Trade payables 369,466 486,954

Interest payable 5,868 2,295

Other payables 116,130 127,235

491,464 616,484

2019
$

2018
$

Promissory note - 
related party

155,692 315,454

Lease liability 49,063 190,250

204,755 505,704

2019
$

2018
$

Contract liabilities 20,000 -

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR TRADE AND 

OTHER PAYABLES

These amounts represent liabilities for goods 

and services provided to the consolidated 

entity prior to the end of the financial year 

and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term 

nature they are measured at amortised cost 

and are not discounted. The amounts are 

unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days 

of recognition.

PROMISSORY NOTE - RELATED PARTY

The company issued a promissory note to 

ULG Holdings Limited, a director related 

entity, amounting to $1,016,650 in relation 

to amounts payable by the wholly owned 

subsidiary, United Global SIM Limited. The 

promissory note is secured under a General 

Security Agreement and interest is charged at 

the average bid rate for bills plus a margin of 

3%.

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR CONTRACT 

LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represent the consolidated 

entity’s obligation to transfer goods or 

services to a customer and are recognised 

when a customer pays consideration, or 

when the consolidated entity recognises a 

receivable to reflect its unconditional right to 

consideration (whichever is earlier) before the 

consolidated entity has transferred the goods 

or services to the customer.

NOTE 16. CURRENT LIABILITIES - 
BORROWINGS

NOTE 15. CURRENT LIABILITIES - 
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

NOTE 17. CURRENT LIABILITIES - 
PROVISIONS

NOTE 18. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
- BORROWINGS

Refer to note 23 for further information on 
financial instruments.

2019
$

2018
$

Annual leave 123,484 119,331

Long service leave 14,908 28,484

138,392 147,815

2019
$

2018
$

Lease liability - 87,188

2019
$

2018
$

Lease liability 49,063 277,438

Promissory note -
related party

- 315,454

49,063 592,892ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR EMPLOYEE 

BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including 

non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long 

service leave expected to be settled wholly 

within 12 months of the reporting date are 

measured at the amounts expected to be paid 

when the liabilities are settled.

TOTAL SECURED LIABILITIES

The total secured liabilities (current and non-

current) are as follows:

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR BORROWINGS

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised 

at the fair value of the consideration 

received, net of transaction costs. They are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method. 

Where there is an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the reporting date, the loans or 

borrowings are classified as non-current.
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NOTE 19. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
- DEFERRED TAX

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The consolidated entity’s objectives when 

managing capital is to safeguard its ability 

to continue as a going concern, so that it can 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits 

for other stakeholders and to maintain an 

optimum capital structure to reduce the cost 

of capital. 

Capital is regarded as total equity, as 

recognised in the statement of financial 

position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 

as total borrowings less cash and cash 

equivalents. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the consolidated entity may adjust 

the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new 

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The consolidated entity would look to raise 

capital when an opportunity to invest in 

a business or company was seen as value 

adding relative to the current company’s 

share price at the time of the investment. The 

consolidated entity is not actively pursuing 

additional investments in the short term as it 

continues to integrate and grow its existing 

businesses in order to maximise synergies.

The capital risk management policy remains 

unchanged from the 2018 Annual Report.

The consolidated entity monitors capital on 

the basis of its working capital position (i.e. 

liquidity risk). The net working capital of the 

consolidated entity at 30 June 2019 was 

$192,016 (2018: $653,387).

NOTE 20. EQUITY - ISSUED CAPITAL

2019
$

2018
$

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences 
attributable to: 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Property, plant and
equipment

235,288 274,856

Other 345,138 309,616

Deductible temporary 
differences offset 
against taxable 
temporary differences

(580,426) (584,472)

Deferred tax liability - -

Movements:

Opening balance - 343,678

Charged/(Credited) to 
profit or loss (note 6)

- (343,678)

Closing balance - -

2019
Shares

2018
Shares

2019
$

2018
$

Ordinary
shares - 
fully paid

125,824,949 125,824,949 24,278,800 24,278,800

ORDINARY SHARES

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to 

participate in dividends and the proceeds on 

the winding up of the company in proportion 

to the number of and amounts paid on the 

shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares 

have no par value and the company does not 

have a limited amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at 

a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one 

vote and upon a poll each share shall have one 

vote.

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR ISSUED CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the 

issue of new shares or options are shown in 

equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 

proceeds.

NOTE 21. EQUITY - ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES

NOTE 22. EQUITY - DIVIDENDS

DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends paid, recommended 

or declared during the current or previous 

financial year.

FRANKING CREDITS

2019
$

2018
$

Accumulated losses at the 
beginning of the financial 
year

(21,369,260) (2,100,651)

Loss after income tax 
(expense)/benefit for the 
year

(1,132,092) (19,268,609)

Accumulated losses at the 
end of the financial year

(22,501,352) (21,369,260)

2019
$

2018
$

Franking credits available for 
subsequent financial years based on a 
tax rate of 27.5%

22,925 22,925

The above amounts represent the balance 

of the franking account as at the end of the 

financial year, adjusted for:

• franking credits that will arise from the 

payment of the amount of the provision 

for income tax at the reporting date

• franking debits that will arise from the 

payment of dividends recognised as a 

liability at the reporting date

• franking credits that will arise from 

the receipt of dividends recognised as 

receivables at the reporting date

NOTE 20. EQUITY - ISSUED CAPITAL CONTINUED
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NOTE 23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

OBJECTIVES

The consolidated entity’s activities expose 

it to a variety of financial risks: market 

risk (including foreign currency risk, price 

risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and 

liquidity risk. The consolidated entity’s overall 

risk management program focuses on the 

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 

to minimise potential adverse effects on the 

financial performance of the consolidated 

entity. The consolidated entity does not 

enter into or trade financial instruments, 

including derivative financial instruments, for 

speculative purposes.

Risk management is carried out under 

policies set by the board of directors. The 

board provides principles for overall risk 

management, as well as policies covering 

specific areas.

MARKET RISK

Foreign currency risk 

The consolidated entity undertakes certain 

transactions denominated in foreign currency 

and is exposed to foreign currency risk 

through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

Most of the consolidated entity’s transactions 

are denominated in Australian Dollars.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future 

commercial transactions and recognised 

financial assets and financial liabilities 

denominated in a currency that is not the 

entity’s functional currency. These exposures 

are not significant.

Price risk

The consolidated entity is not exposed to any 

significant price risk.

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity’s main interest 

rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. 

Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose 

the consolidated entity to interest rate risk. 

Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the 

consolidated entity to fair value interest rate 

risk.

As at the reporting date, the consolidated 

entity had the following variable rate 

borrowings outstanding:

2019 2018

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate
%

Balance
$

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate
%

Balance
$

Promissory 
note 

4.20% 155,692 4.87% 315,454 

Net exposure 
to cash flow 
interest rate 
risk

155,692 315,454 

An analysis by remaining contractual 

maturities in shown in ‘liquidity and interest 

rate risk management’ below. 

An official increase/decrease in interest rates 

of 100 (2018: 100) basis points would have an 

adverse/favourable effect on profit before 

tax of $1,557 (2018: $3,155) per annum. The 

percentage change is based on the expected 

volatility of interest rates using market data.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a 

counterparty will default on its contractual 

obligations resulting in financial loss to the 

consolidated entity. The consolidated entity 

has a strict code of credit, including obtaining 

agency credit information, confirming 

references and setting appropriate credit 

limits.  The maximum exposure to credit risk 

at the reporting date to recognised financial 

assets is the carrying amount, net of any 

provisions for impairment of those assets, 

as disclosed in the statement of financial 

position and notes to the financial statements. 

The consolidated entity does not hold any 

collateral.

The consolidated entity has adopted a 

lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating 

expected credit losses to trade receivables 

through the use of a provisions matrix using 

fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These 

provisions are considered representative 

across all customers of the consolidated 

entity based on recent sales experience, 

historical collection rates and forward-looking 

information that is available.

Generally, trade receivables are written off 

when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovery. Indicators of this include the failure 

of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, 

no active enforcement activity and a failure 

to make contractual payments for a period 

greater than 1 year.

The consolidated entity has no significant 

concentration of credit risk with respect 

to any single counterparty or group of 

counterparties. The class of assets described 

as ‘Trade and other receivables’ is considered 

to be the main source of credit risk for the 

consolidated entity. Trade receivables consist 

of a large number of customers, spread across 

diverse industries and geographical areas. 

Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires 

the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient 

liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) 

and available borrowing facilities to be able to 

pay debts as and when they become due and 

payable. 

The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk 

by maintaining adequate cash reserves and 

available borrowing facilities by continuously 

monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and 

matching the maturity profiles of financial 

assets and liabilities.

Remaining contractual maturities 

The following tables detail the consolidated 

entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its 

financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 

been drawn up based on the undiscounted 

cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 

earliest date on which the financial liabilities 

are required to be paid.

NOTE 23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
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2019
Not later than 1

month
$

1 - 3 months
$

3 months to 1 
year

$

1 to 5 years
$

Remaining 
contractual

maturities
$

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other 
payables

491,464 - - - 491,464

Interest-bearing

Promissory note - - 155,692 - 155,692

Lease liability 8,177 16,354 17,565 - 42,096

Total non-
derivatives

499,641 16,354 173,257 - 1,209,376

2018
Not later than 1

month
$

1 - 3 months
$

3 months to 1 
year

$

1 to 5 years
$

Remaining 
contractual

maturities
$

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other 
payables

616,484 - - - 616,484

Interest-bearing

Promissory note - - 315,454 - 315,454

Lease liability 15,442 30,747 144,061 87,188 277,438

Total non-
derivatives

631,926 30,747 459,515 87,188 1,209,376

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than 

contractually disclosed above.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

NOTE 23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

NOTE 24. KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

COMPENSATION

The aggregate compensation made to 

directors and other members of key 

management personnel of the consolidated 

entity is set out below:

2019
$

2018
$

Short-term employee benefits 414,749 762,117

Post-employment benefits 23,161 66,482

Long-term benefits 29,412 14,574

467,322 843,173

NOTE 25. REMUNERATION OF 
AUDITORS

During the financial year the following fees 

were paid or payable for services provided by 

Rothsay Chartered Accountants, the auditor of 

the company:

2019
$

2018
$

Audit services - Rothsay Chartered Accountants

Audit or review of the financial 
statements

50,000 61,000

Other services - Rothsay Chartered Accountants

Taxation services 6,916 35,142

Other advisory services 700 5,500

7,616 40,642

57,616 101,642

NOTE 26. RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS

LEGAL PARENT ENTITY

United Networks Limited is the parent entity.

ACCOUNTING PARENT ENTITY

United Lifestyle Group Networks Pty Ltd is the 

accounting parent of the group.

SUBSIDIARIES

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Disclosures relating to key management 

personnel are set out in note 24 and the 

remuneration report included in the directors’ 

report.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The following transactions occurred with 

related parties:

2019
$

2018
$

Sale of goods and services:

Sale of goods to other related 
party

117,975 84,242

Sale of services to other 
related party

62,083 51,489

Payment for goods and services:

Payment for services from 
other related party

182,721 372,617

Payment for other expenses:

Interest paid to other related 
party

11,629 23,021
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NOTE 26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS CONTINUED

RECEIVABLE FROM AND PAYABLE TO 

RELATED PARTIES

The following balances are outstanding at the 

reporting date in relation to transactions with 

related parties:

LOANS TO/FROM RELATED PARTIES

The following balances are outstanding at the 

reporting date in relation to loans with related 

parties:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

All transactions were made on normal 

commercial terms and conditions and at 

market rates.

2019
$

2018
$

Current receivables:

Trade receivables from other 
related party

118,298 58,622 

Current payables:

Trade payables to other 
related party - 10,279 

Parent

2019
$

2018
$

Profit/(loss) after income tax 2,294 (8,676,223)

Total comprehensive
income

2,294 (8,676,223)

Parent

2019
$

2018
$

Total current assets 503,642 500,017

Total assets 503,936 500,311

Total current liabilities - (1,332)

Total liabilities - (1,332)

Equity

Issued capital 9,163,750 9,163,750

Retained profits/

(accumulated losses)
(8,659,814) (8,662,107)

Total equity 503,936 501,643

2019
$

2018
$

Current receivables:

Loan to director related entity 39,331 39,331

Current borrowings:

Promissory note - director 
related entity

155,692 315,454

NOTE 27. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

Set out below is the supplementary 

information about the parent entity.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

GUARANTEES ENTERED INTO BY THE 

PARENT ENTITY IN RELATION TO THE 

DEBTS OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES

The parent entity had no guarantees in 

relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 

June 2019 and 30 June 2018.

NOTE 27. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION CONTINUED

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities 

as at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS - PROPERTY, 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The parent entity had no capital commitments 

for property, plant and equipment as at 30 

June 2019 and 30 June 2018.

LEGAL PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

The above information has been extracted 

from the books and records of the legal parent 

entity, United Networks Limited. Accordingly, 

the information does not relate to the 

‘accounting parent’ - United Lifestyle Group 

Networks Pty Ltd.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the parent entity 

are consistent with those of the consolidated 

entity, as disclosed in note 1, except for the 

following:

• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted 

for at cost, less any impairment, in the 

parent entity.

• Dividends received from subsidiaries are 

recognised as other income by the parent 

entity and its receipt may be an indicator 

of an impairment of the investment.

NOTE 28. INTERESTS IN 
SUBSIDIARIES

United Networks Ltd is the legal parent entity 

of the group and United Lifestyle Group 

Networks Pty Ltd is the accounting parent 

entity.

Ownership interest

Name

Principal place 
of business 
/ Country of 

incorporation

2019
%

2018
%

United Lifestyle 
Group Networks 
Pty Ltd 

Australia 100.00% 100.00%

United Networks 
Ltd Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00%

United SIM Canada 
Limited Canada 100.00% 100.00%

United Networks 
Operations Limited Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00%

United Global SIM 
Limited* Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00%

* Subsidiary of United Lifestyle Group Networks 
Pty Ltd
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NOTE 29. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of Broadland Group

On 13 September 2019, United Networks Limited (UNL) announced it had entered 
into a binding agreement to acquire 100% of the Broadland Group (BLG) which 
comprises Broadland Solutions Pty Ltd and Broadland Victoria Pty Ltd and its 
related entities for a consideration of $9.5 million. The transaction is subject to 
shareholder approval at the AGM on 21 October 2019. 

The transaction will be funded by the issue of 266,554,433 UNL shares at a price of 
$0.03564 per share to BLG shareholders. No further capital raising will be required 
to complete this transaction.  

The Telecommunication Service Provider business division of UNL and BLG are 
very similar serving small to medium business a range of telecommunications and 
data services, both direct billing under their respective brands. The transaction is 
expected to deliver direct synergies from cost savings and supplier negotiation for 
cost of services. 

From a legal and taxation perspective UNL will be considered the acquiring entity. 
However, the acquisition has the features of a reverse acquisition as described 
in the Australian Accounting Standard AASB 3 ‘Business combinations’ because 
the acquisition will result in BLG shareholders holding a controlling interest in 
UNL after the transaction notwithstanding UNL being the legal parent of the new 
group. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of UNL for the half year 
ending 31 December 2019 will be prepared as a continuation of the business and 
operations of BLG. As the deemed acquirer BLG will account for the acquisition of 
UNL from the date the transaction is approved by the shareholders of UNL.

If the transaction had been completed on 30 June 2019, the following would have 
been the goodwill at that date:

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated entity’s 
operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of 
affairs in future financial years.

Pro-forma 30 June 2019
$

Net assets of UNL acquired on reverse acquisition 1,777,448

Assessed fair value of assets acquired:

125,824,949, being 100% of the UNL shares on issue at $0.013 per share (1,635,724)

Gain on bargain purchase 141,724

NOTE 30. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET 
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2018
$

2017
$

Loss after income tax benefit for the year (1,132,092) (19,268,609)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,043,992 974,770

Impairment of goodwill - 16,016,577

Other - -

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 629 1,521,903 

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 28,936 41,075 

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets - 762,620 

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 32,104 (44,378)

Decrease in trade and other payables (125,020) (957,019)

Increase in contract liabilities 20,000 -  

Decrease in deferred tax liabilities - (343,678)

Increase in employee benefits 34,061 18,764 

Net cash used in operating activities (97,390) (1,277,975)
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NOTE 31. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Promissory
note

$

Lease
liability

$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July 2017 811,679 411,632 811,679

Net cash used in financing activities (496,225) (183,878) (680,103)

Right of use assets - property leases - 49,684 49,684

Balance at 30 June 2018 315,454 277,438 592,892

Net cash used in financing activities (159,762) (168,018) (327,780)

Right of use assets - property leases - (60,357) (60,357)

Balance at 30 June 2019 155,692 49,063 204,755

NOTE 32. EARNINGS PER SHARE

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of United 

Networks Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 

bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.

2019
$

2018
$

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of United Networks Limited (1,132,092) (19,268,609)

2019
$

2018
$

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 125,824,949 125,824,949

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share 125,824,949 125,824,949

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (0.90) (15.31)

Diluted earnings per share (0.90) (15.31)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures 

used in the determination of basic earnings 

per share to take into account the after income 

tax effect of interest and other financing costs 

associated with dilutive potential ordinary 

shares and the weighted average number of 

shares assumed to have been issued for no 

consideration in relation to dilutive potential 

ordinary shares.

NOTE 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION PLAN

On 17 November 2015 the company 

established a employee share option plan to 

provide eligible employees with a means of 

receiving options to subscribe for shares and 

a means of receiving rights to receive shares. 

Eligible employees includes:

a) an employee, director or secretary 

of the company or any subsidiary of the 

company;

b) and a contractor, consultant, agent, 

advisor other person retained, engaged or 

nominated by company or any subsidiary of 

the company.

The purpose of the plan is to provide eligible 

employees with an opportunity to share in 

the growth in value of the company and to 

encourage them to improve the longer-term 

performance of the company and its return to 

shareholders. Participation in the plan is at the 

Board of Director’s discretion and no individual 

has a contractual right to participate in the 

plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.

The Board has the discretion to determine the 

exercise price of the options and any exercise 

conditions. Unless otherwise determined by 

the Board, no payment is required for the 

grant of options or rights under the plan. 

Options granted under the plan carry no 

dividend or voting rights. 

On 1 July 2016, a total of 14,000,000 options 

were granted to the company’s Directors. The 

options vest on 1 July 2018, are exercisable 

at 30 cents and expire on 11 November 

2021. There are no performance conditions 

attaching to these options. The fair value of 

the options granted was $nil.

OTHER SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 2 November 2016, the Board granted 

1,000,000 options at an exercise price of 

30 cents per option to the Lead Manager in 

relation to the company’s initial public offer 

of shares (IPO). The options were granted as 

more than $5 million was raised in the IPO. The 

options vest on 2 November 2019 and expire 

on 2 November 2021. The fair value of the 

options granted was $nil.

On 11 November 2016, the Board granted 

1,000,000 options at an exercise price of 30 

cents per option to the Corporate Adviser 

in consideration for consultancy services in 

relation to the company’s initial public offer 

of shares (IPO). The options were granted as 

more than $5 million was raised in the IPO. 

The options vest on 11 November 2018 and 

expire 11 November 2021.The fair value of the 

options granted was $nil.

There were no options or rights issued under 

the plan during the 2019 financial year.

 

NOTE 32. EARNINGS PER SHARE CONTINUED
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NOTE 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

Price

Balance at 
the start of 

the year
Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/

 other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

01/07/2016 11/11/2021 $0.300 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000

02/11/2016 02/11/2021 $0.300 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

11/11/2016 11/11/2021 $0.300 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

16,000,000 - - - 16,000,000

Weighted average exercise price $0.300 $0.000 $0.000 $0.000 $0.300 

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

Price

Balance at 
the start of 

the year
Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/

 other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

01/07/2016 11/11/2021 $0.300 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000

02/11/2016 02/11/2021 $0.300 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

11/11/2016 11/11/2021 $0.300 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

16,000,000 - - - 16,000,000

Weighted average exercise price $0.300 $0.000 $0.000 $0.000 $0.300 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial 

year was 2.37 years (2018: 3.37 years).

Options were priced using a Black-Scholes pricing model. Expected volatility was based on an 

evaluation of the historical volatility of other comparable companies based on publicly available 

information. Options were assumed to be exercised in full on the date of expiry. 

The total share based payments expense for the year was $nil (2018: $nil).

Set out below are summaries of options granted:

2019

2018

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to 

employees in exchange for the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash 

for the exchange of services, where the amount of cash is determined by reference to the share 

price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is 

independently determined using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that 

takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price 

NOTE 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

at grant date and expected price volatility of 

the underlying share, the expected dividend 

yield and the risk free interest rate for the 

term of the option, together with non-vesting 

conditions that do not determine whether the 

consolidated entity receives the services that 

entitle the employees to receive payment. 

No account is taken of any other vesting 

conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions 

are recognised as an expense with a 

corresponding increase in equity over the 

vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit 

or loss is calculated based on the grant date 

fair value of the award, the best estimate of 

the number of awards that are likely to vest 

and the expired portion of the vesting period. 

The amount recognised in profit or loss for the 

period is the cumulative amount calculated at 

each reporting date less amounts already

recognised in previous periods. 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, 

and at each reporting date until vested, 

determined by applying either the Binomial 

or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking 

into consideration the terms and conditions on 

which the award was granted. The cumulative 

charge to profit or loss until settlement of the 

liability is calculated as follows:

• during the vesting period, the liability at 

each reporting date is the fair value of 

the award at that date multiplied by the 

expired portion of the vesting period.

• from the end of the vesting period until 

settlement of the award, the liability is 

the full fair value of the liability at the 

reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised in 

profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled 

transactions is the cash paid to settle the 

liability.

Market conditions are taken into consideration 

in determining fair value. Therefore any 

awards subject to market conditions are 

considered to vest irrespective of whether 

or not that market condition has been met, 

provided all other conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a 

minimum an expense is recognised as if the 

modification has not been made.

An additional expense is recognised, over the 

remaining vesting period, for any modification 

that increases the total fair value of the share-

based compensation benefit as at the date of 

modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within 

the control of the consolidated entity or 

employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is 

treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not 

within the control of the consolidated entity 

or employee and is not satisfied during the 

vesting period, any remaining expense for the 

award is recognised over the remaining vesting 

period, unless the award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it 

is treated as if it has vested on the date of 

cancellation, and any remaining expense is 

recognised immediately. If a new replacement 

award is substituted for the cancelled award, 

the cancelled and new award is treated as if 

they were a modification.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In the directors’ opinion:

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the 

Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements;

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to 

the financial statements;

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the financial year ended 

on that date; and

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 

2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the 

Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Nicholas Ghattas

Managing Director

30 September 2019

Sydney

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF 
UNITED NETWORKS 
LIMITED
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UNITED NETWORKS LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of Insight United Networks Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of United Networks Limited (“United”) and its controlled entities (the 
“Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and  

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1, “Going Concern” in the Financial Report. The conditions disclosed in Note 1 
indicate a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and, therefore, whether it will realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business, and at the amounts stated in the Financial Report. Our opinion is not modified in respect 
of this matter.  
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UNITED NETWORKS LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Key Audit Matter  How our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Going Concern  

The financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis as discussed in note 1. 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 the 
consolidated entity incurred a loss after income 
tax of $1,132,092 (2018: $19,268,609) and net 
cash outflows from operating activities of 
$97,390 (2018: $1,277,975). The recurring 
historical operating losses and net cash outflows 
from operating activities give rise to a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
about the ability of the consolidated entity to 
continue as a going concern. 

We included the going concern assumption as a 
key audit matter as it relies on existing cash 
reserves and revenue growth generating 
sufficient cashflows to cover necessary 
expenditure.  

We considered the current financial position of the 
Group, Management’s forecasts, including plans to 
return the Group to profitability, and actions taken 
subsequent to year end, by way of corporate 
development detailed in Note 29 in the Financial 
Statements, to strengthen the Group’s working 
capital position and improve profitability.  

Responsibility of Directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.   
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UNITED NETWORKS LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken based on the financial 
report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.
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UNITED NETWORKS LIMITED 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued) 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 7 to 12 of the Directors’ Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2019. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of 
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of United Networks Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2019, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

Rothsay Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

 

 

Frank Vrachas 

Partner 

Sydney, 30 September 2019 
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GLOSSARY

GLOSSARY

$, A$
Australian Dollar

AASB
Australian Accounting 
Standards Board.

ACCEPTANCE
The percentage of customers that ordered a 
SIM after being made a offer by our partners
from the EDM by a direct online link or over 
the phone order

ACTIVATION
Refers to the registering and loading of funds 
onto a Global SIM card or Wi-Fi Pass

API
Application Protocol Interface 

APP SECURITIES OR LEAD MANAGER
APP Securities Pty Limited
(ABN 45 112 871 842)

APPS
A self-contained program or piece of software 
designed to fulfil a particular purpose; an 
application, especially as downloaded by a user 
to a mobile device.

ASX
ASX Limited (ACN 008 624
691) or the stock exchange
which it operates, as the
context requires.

AUTOPILOT CONSULTING OR APC
Autopilot Consulting Pty Ltd
(ACN 136 984 186)

AVENUE INVESTMENTS AUSTRALIA
Avenue Investments Australia Family Trust 
(ABN 13 402 363 010)

AVERAGE CREDIT ADDED
Average Credited loaded to the SIM card in 
both Credit Add and Data Bundles this is also 
termed as the Average Revenue Per User 
(ARPU)

AVERAGE REVENUE PER USER (ARPU)
Also referred to as Average credit added

B2C
Business to Consumer 

BIG DATA ANALYTICS
The process of examining a large data set 
to obtain information that can be used for 
business intelligence

BOARD OR BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board of directors of the Company

CMS
Content Management System

THE COMPANY
United Networks Limited (ACN
607 921 246).

CONSTITUTION OR COMPANY 
CONSTITUTION
The company’s constitution specifies the 
rules governing the relationship between and 
activities of the Company, its Directors and 
Shareholders.

CORPORATIONS ACT
The Corporations Act 2001 (Cth.)

CRM
Customer Relationship Management

CUSTOMER
A customer or partner of
United which United directly
sell products to.

CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT ECOSYSTEM
United’s proprietary platform, we enable our 
enterprise partners to connect and engage 
with their end users through a variety of 
products and services all integrated within.

DOS
Denial of Service Attacks
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DIRECTORS
Anthony Ghattas, Nicholas Ghattas and 
Charbel Nader

EBIT
Earnings before interest and tax

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation

EDM
Electronic Direct Marketing

END USER
A user of the products. These are both 
direct customers from United and United’s 
Customers’ customer.

ENTERPRISE CUSTOMER OR PARTNER
A customer offering United’s solution to its 
customers as white label solutions or
otherwise. 

FAIR WORK ACT
Fair Work Act 2009 (CTH) as amended from 
time to time.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Historical Financial Information and any 
other Financial Information disclosed in this 
document. 

FINANCIER ULG and ULGH FOUNDERS OR 
DIRECTOR RELATED SHAREHOLDERS
APC and Temont

FLIGHT DELAY INSURANCE
United Networks new Flight Delay Insurance.
Product launch in conjunction with Chubb & 
Swiss Re

FY
Financial Year

GAP (NEWLY BRANDED AS TRUST)
Global Access Portal, which is United’s 
proprietary cloud-based multi layered 
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
platform servicing United’s products, partners 
and their end customers.

GHATTAS FAMILY TRUST
Ghattas Family Trust Australia (ABN 38
687 647 255)

GROUP
The Company and its subsidiaries

GST
Has the meaning given to that term in A New 
Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 
(Cth) and includes goods and services tax.
HALL CHADWICK OR HC OR CORPORATE 
ADVISOR
HC Management Pty Ltd (ABN 16 169 916 885)
HIN
Holder Identification Number

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Rothsay Chartered Accountants (ABN 59 087 
479 410)

IPO
Initial Public Offering

KEY ENTERPRISE PARTNERS
Refers to our partnerships with major 
customers; Cover-More Insurance and Chubb 
Travel Insurance and partners of these 
businesses.

NETWORK OPERATOR
Is the owner and provider of mobile network 
services

OFFERS
Number of Global SIM and Wi-Fi offers made 
to eligible partner and direct customers

PCI COMPLIANCE
The Payment Card Industry Data Security 
Standard (PCI DSS) is a proprietary information 
security standard for organisations that 
handle branded credit cards from the major 
card schemes including Visa, MasterCard, 
American Express. Being PCI compliant is 
a means of building customers’ trust and 
protecting business against damaging leaks of 
confidential customer information. 

RMA COMMITTEE
Risk Management and Audit Committee 
consisting of Charbel Nader, Anthony Ghattas 
and Nicholas Ghattas

ROTHSAY ACCOUNTING
Rothsay Accounting Services Pty Ltd 

SEKEL GRINBERG
Sekel Grinberg Lawyers (ABN 85 139 760 857)

SHARE REGISTRY
Advanced Share Registry Limited (ABN 14 127 
175 946)

SHAREHOLDER
The registered holder of a Share.

SHARES
Fully paid ordinary shares in the capital
of the Company 

SIM
Subscriber Identity Module cards that contain 
a smart chip with memory that allows for data 
storage and software applications in mobile 
devices

SOS ALERTS
United’s product launched in January 2018 
which alerts customers of emergency events 

SUBSCRIBERS
The number of active SIM and or Wi-Fi Passes 
in the market rather than individual users.

TEMONT
Temont Pty Ltd (ACN 113 724 324) as trustee 
for Ghattas Family Trust Australia.

TRUST PLATFORM
The United Networks customer connectivity 
engagement & payments platform.

UGS
United Global SIM Limited (Hong Kong 
company ARBN 610 038 509)

ULGH
ULG Holdings Ltd (foreign company ABN 41 
606 136 789)

ULGN
United Lifestyle Group Networks Pty Ltd (ACN 
139 763 830)

UNH
United Networks Hong Kong Limited (Hong 
Kong Company #2283333) 

UNL, UNITED NETWORKS LIMITED/ UNITED
The Company or the Group as the context 
requires

UNO
United Networks Operations Limited (Hong 
Kong company ABN 48 610 395 358)

WI-FI HOTSPOT
A Wi-Fi Hotspot is a physical location where  
people may connect to the Internet via a Wi-Fi 
connection

WHITE-LABEL PARTNERS
The Enterprise and Key Enterprise Partners 
that United brands SIM cards for

WHITE-LABELLING
Refers to the partner full-branding and co-
branding of Global SIM, Wi-Fi and/or other 
products provided by United
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ADDRESS
United Networks
Level 2, 100 William Street
Woolloomooloo, NSW 2011

CONTACT
Tel: +61 2 9003 9573
shareholders@unitednetworks.net.au

WEBSITE
www.unitednetworks.net.au


